University of South Florida

DIGITAL COMMONS© UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA

Digital Commons @ University of South Florida

USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations

USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations

October 2019

Pathways to Parenthood: Attitudes and Preferences of Eight Self-Identified Queer Women Living in Tampa Bay, FL

Emily Noelle Baker University of South Florida

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd

Part of the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Studies Commons, Public Policy Commons, and the Social and Cultural Anthropology Commons

Scholar Commons Citation

Baker, Emily Noelle, "Pathways to Parenthood: Attitudes and Preferences of Eight Self-Identified Queer Women Living in Tampa Bay, FL" (2019). *USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd/8622

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. It has been accepted for inclusion in USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usf.edu.

Pathways to Parenthood: Attitudes and Preferences of Eight Self-Identified Queer Women Living in Tampa Bay, FL

by

Emily Noelle Baker

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Applied Anthropology with concentration in Biocultural Medical Anthropology Department of Anthropology College of Arts and Sciences University of South Florida

Major Professor: Elizabeth Miller, Ph.D. Nancy Romero-Daza, Ph.D. Daniel Lende, Ph.D.

Date of Approval: October 28, 2019

Keywords: LGBTQ kinship, assisted reproductive technology, adoption, US family policy, social justice

Copyright © 2019, Emily Noelle Baker

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I would like to thank my committee members for their patience and incredible input for this project. Elizabeth Miller, my advisor, thank you for your endless encouragement and your grounding guidance; Nancy Romero-Daza, for your invaluable input and theoretical knowledge; and Daniel Lende, for your methodological training and mentorship throughout my journey at USF.

I want to thank Alejandra González Díaz for your activism, dedication to social justice, and for my inspiration for this project. Thanks to Metro Wellness for being a community advocate and safe space for LGBTQ individuals and the Tampa Bay Birth Network for your time and dedication to providing information to LGBTQ individuals pursuing parenthood when it seems no one else will take up the task. I am infinitely thankful to the participants who were willing to share and learn with me on this project.

I also want to thank my graduate school colleagues who provided emotional and academic support including: Gabby Lehigh, Jaime Sykes, Colette Witcher, Preston LaFarge, Guffran Rostom, and Alexis Monkhouse. I could not have made it through the past 5 years without you guys. To my friends and family, who, again, provided emotional support and encouragement, Alyssa, Doug, Ashley, Daisy, Prin, Tatiana, David and Julynn, my in-laws-Steve and Linda, and my parents- Becki and Donnie.

Lastly, thank you to the love of my life, Phillip Register Baker, for your unwavering love, inspiration, and belief in me, and for being such an amazing father to our baby girl, Majken.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	iii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Introduction	
1.1.1 Study Objectives	
1.1.2 Expected Outcomes	
1.1.3 Applied Outcomes	
1.2 Disparities in Family Services and Outcomes in the US	
1.3 Family Policy in Florida	
1.3 I diffity I offey in I fortune	
Chapter 2: Understanding Kinship Practices	7
2.1 Introduction to Practice Theory	
2.2 Pathways to Parenthood	
2.2.1 Genetic Pathways	
2.2.2 Biocultural Pathways	
2.2.3 Legal Pathways	
2.3 Strategies of Kinning	
2.3.1 Matching	
2.3.2 Alternating	
2.3.3 Shared Genetic Donor	18
2.3.4 Stories	19
The origin story	19
Genealogical stories	10
Visual stories	20
2.4 Kinship Practices Summary	20
Chapter 3: Reproductive Governance and Family Policy	21
3.1 Stratified Reproduction and Reproductive Governance	
3.2 Kinship Policies Around the Globe	
Chapter 4: Methods	29
4.1 Setting	
4.2 Positionality	33
4.3 Recruitment	34
4.4 Methods	35
4.5 Data Analysis	37
4.6 Ethical Considerations	
Chanter 5: Results	39

5.1 Participant Characteristics	39
5.2 Interview Analysis	
5.3.1 Known Pathways	
5.3.2 Adoption vs Conception	41
5.3.3 Adoption and Fostering	
5.3.4 Self or Partner Insemination vs ARTs	
5.3.5 ARTs & ROPA	44
5.3.6 Pathways Less Likely to be Considered	44
5.3.7 Pregnancy	44
5.3.8 Breastfeeding	
5.3.9 Adoption Factors	
5.3.10 Donor Factors	47
Selecting a donor	47
Donor anonymity	48
Selecting a sperm bank	
5.3 Policy Concerns	49
5.4 Emerging Themes	
Chapter 6: Discussion and Conclusions	53
6.1 Summary of Key Findings	
6.2 Contributions of Findings to the Literature	
6.3 Applied Dimensions and Recommendations	
6.4 Limitations and Future Directions	60
6.5 Conclusion	61
References	62
Appendices	72
Appendix A: USF IRB Approval	
Appendix B: Interview Questionnaire	

ABSTRACT

This small-scale ethnographic study looks at the how queer women living in Florida imagine navigating family building decisions under the current climate of policies such as a lack of federal non-discrimination protections and the largely unregulated use of assisted reproductive technologies. Despite the federal legalization of same-sex marriage in the United States in 2015, state and county legislations continue to vary greatly on the extent of support they will provide for LGBTQ families. The goal of this research is to evaluate parenting desire, intentions, and preferences for queer women living in Tampa Bay since the passage of the Marriage Equality Act in 2015. Eight semi-structured interviews were conducted with self-identified queer women who have lived in the Tampa Bay area for at least a year since 2015. Queer family planning needs are not homogenous, and this research is not generalizable to the entire population of LGBTQ individuals in the U.S. because of local and legal nuances. However, this research may be relevant to inform state and national policies as other states and countries begin to offer the protections, rights, and avenues to strengthen LGBTQ relationships and promote healthy families.

CHAPTER 1:

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

This study explores how self-identified queer¹ women living in the Tampa Bay area imagine navigating a pathway to parenthood in the current climate of legal policy. Despite the federal adoption of the Marriage Equality Act in 2015, studies on the current status of family health in the U.S. show significant disparities in family resources, services, and outcomes between heterosexual and LGBTQ families (Agénor, Austin, Kort, Austin, & Muzny, 2016; Wu et al., 2017; Hodson, Meads, & Bowley, 2017; Klein et al., 2018; Kreines, Farr, Chervenak, & Grünebaum, 2018). This study focuses on how queer women living in Tampa Bay would like to engage with assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs), different methods of conception, and alternative avenues to parenthood. The goal of this research is to explore what an inclusive family planning program might look like. As a small-scale ethnographic project, the data in this study comes from semi-structured interviews of eight self-identified queer women living in the Tampa Bay area. The interviews focus on individual attitudes and preferences as each participant imagines navigating a pathway to parenthood.

1.1.1 Study Objectives

The study objectives are to:

¹ In the context of this study the term "queer" can be defined as any desire, identity, or relationship that is not solely based around standards of heterosexuality.

- Evaluate attitudes toward the various pathways to parenthood
- Explore how queer women in the Tampa Bay area define and construct kinship
- Explore perceptions of policy and available family building resources for queer families such as funding, information, and legal support

1.1.2 Expected Outcomes

The expected outcomes of this study are to:

- Contribute to further understanding of the desired use of family planning services in order to direct resources appropriately and effectively
- Provide knowledge of LGBTQ kinship building practices in the Tampa Bay area

1.1.3 Applied Outcomes

The expected applications of this study are to:

- Connect interviewees to resources and help guide individuals toward healthy futures for their families
- Provide policy recommendations that aim to promote healthy families for all LGBTQ individuals

1.2 Disparities in Family Services and Outcomes in the US

Despite recent political gains for LGBTQ rights in the United States, including the Marriage Equality Act in 2015, the support for LGBTQ families varies across state and county

legislation. Examples of political issues concerning LGBTQ individuals currently being discussed by legislators include non-discrimination protections and the use of assisted reproductive technologies. Due to the advancements of reproductive technologies and recent changes in federal and state policies, LGBTQ individuals and couples living in the US are able to become parents in the same ways that are available to heterosexual individuals and couples. However, LGBTQ individuals continue to face a variety of barriers as they navigate a pathway to parenthood, leading to disparities between heterosexual and queer families (Kissil & Davey, 2012; Jin & Dasgupta, 2016; Klein et al., 2018; Kreines et al., 2018). Queer family planning needs are not homogenous and differ across sexual orientations and gender identities (Nebeling, 2018; Ryan, 2013).

For example, the Center for Demographics and Population Health analyzed data from the National Survey of Family Growth (NSFG) from 2006 to 2010 and found that in a sample of 15,784 participants lesbian women were significantly less likely to become parents than bisexual or heterosexual women in the United States (Brewster, Tillman & Jokinen-Gordon 2014; Agénor et al., 2016). In a meta-analysis that included 13 studies on pregnancy outcomes for heterosexual, lesbian, and bisexual women in the US, Hodson (2017) found lesbian women had lower rates of pregnancy, fewer pregnancy attempts, and fewer previous pregnancies. This is despite data from the US Census and the National Survey of Family Growth that suggests the majority of lesbian women would like to have children (Schwartz & Baral 2015).

In multiple studies on sexual and reproductive health in the United States, researchers have found disproportionate parenting outcomes and opportunities for queer women pursuing parenthood are linked with intersections of race and class (Kissil & Davey, 2012; Lo, Chan & Chan, 2016, Agénor et al., 2016, Jin & Dasgupta, 2016). In a review of infertility rates and the

ARTs at lower rates than Non-Hispanic White women even though women of color were experiencing high incidences of infertility. Although pregnancy and childbirth are considered essential health benefits in all states under the 2010 Affordable Care Act, only 16 states in the US have policies in place mandating insurance companies to cover the use of ARTs (Jin & Dasgupta, 2016; Wu et al., 2017; "What Marketplace Health Insurance Plans Cover," n.d.; "State Laws Related to Insurance Coverage for Infertility Treatment," 2019). Even in states where coverage is mandated, Kissil & Davey (2012) found women of color use assisted reproductive technologies less than Non-Hispanic White women. The authors assert that a reason for this disparity is because women of color are less likely than Non-Hispanic White women to have health insurance (Kissil & Davey, 2012). This study did not include a discussion on sexual orientation; however, this study does suggest that queer women of color and women who do not have health insurance may experience more structural barriers when pursuing parenthood through ARTs.

Another example of the significant evidence of unequal parenting outcomes is evident in a study exploring custody loss. In a study which included a survey of 339 Black women living in Kentucky, Harp & Oser (2016) found Black women who were lesbian or bisexual faced a higher rate of official custody loss than heterosexual Black women. According to The Children's Bureau's Adoption and Foster Care Analysis and Reporting System (AFCARS) Report for 2017, children of color are disproportionately placed in foster care more than White children in the US (Children's Bureau, 2018). These findings suggest queer women of color experience higher incidences of custody loss in the US than heterosexual or queer White women.

These are just some examples of how parenting outcomes and opportunities are disproportionate for some queer individuals. As institutions of power continue to treat certain social groups inequitably, the US will continue to privilege a classist, heterosexual, racialized stratification of reproduction (Mamo & Alston-Stepnitz, 2015; Agénor et al., 2016). Overall, the literature points to gaps in family building resources and policies that result in systemic consequences for LGBTQ individuals and their families. More research is needed to understand how states may more effectively direct resources for family planning programs and policies that will allow equal opportunities for all individuals to build healthy families.

1.3 Family Policy in Florida

Florida legislation has a long history of sanctioning blatantly discriminatory policies towards LGBTQ individuals, especially LGBTQ individuals seeking parenthood. Florida was one of the very last states to allow LGTBQ individuals to adopt. Florida legislators ended the state's ban specifically excluding LGBTQ individuals from adopting in 2010 but did not allow same-sex couples to jointly adopt without the execution of a second-parent adoption until after the federal legalization of the Marriage Equality Act in 2015 (Equality Florida, 2017; Phillips, 2015). The State of Florida is one of the majority states that do not require insurance companies to cover the use of assisted reproductive technologies (Jin & Dasgupta, 2016; Wu et al., 2017; "State Laws Related to Insurance Coverage for Infertility Treatment," 2019). For a state that did not opt to expand Medicaid coverage after the Affordable Care Act was passed in 2010, this means some individuals will not qualify for state health insurance until after they become pregnant (Kissil & Davey, 2012; Florida Department of Children and Families, 2014; Jin & Dasgupta, 2016; Wu et al., 2017; Esubalew, 2018). This lack of consideration for LGBTQ needs

actively discriminates against LGBTQ families, as well as some individuals with disabilities, by not providing relevant policies and resources to support the family planning efforts of individuals who require reproductive assistance to achieve pregnancy. This study aims to document systemic barriers that may inhibit queer women living in Tampa Bay, Florida from constructing kinship in a way that is meaningful and comfortable for each individual.

1.4 Organization of Thesis

The next section of this thesis looks at how parent-child kinship is constructed by examining the genetic, biocultural, and legal pathways that might bond them together. This will be followed by a section on strategies some queer families use to maximize their kinship connections. After going over some of the pathways and strategies queer parents may use to forge kinship connections to their children, this paper aims to reframe kinship within broader practices by looking at how policy can result in the stratification of reproductive and parenting opportunities for certain groups of people. Lastly, this paper takes a glimpse at how current policies and institutions shape kinship practices, rights, and access for queer individuals to begin families around the world. Each of these sections is meant to frame kinship through a range of practices and policies before focusing on how family policy in Florida may impact how kinship is formed for eight queer women living in Tampa Bay.

CHAPTER 2:

UNDERSTANDING KINSHIP PRACTICES

2.1 Introduction to Practice Theory

This study uses a practice theory framework to examine how queer women living in Tampa Bay imagine navigating a pathway to parenthood within the current medical and legal institutions, under the present economic and political conditions, and in regard to relevant state and national policies. Practice theory looks at how social actors operate within systems, such as institutions and social groups, and how individual and collective actions and practices reproduce or transform the current systems in place (Ortner, 1984; Roth, 2013; Howson, 2013). Practice theorists argue that systematic reproduction takes place through daily practices and routines (Ortner, 1984; Ortner, 2006). Habitus refers to an individual's inventory of learned and subconscious material and symbolic capital (Roth, 2013). According to practice theory, queer women living in Florida operate within specific fields and institutions in reference to their individual habitus and resources.

Historically, kinship has been defined as an economic exchange, a biological truth, and a legal matter (Levine, 2008). After more recent kinship studies looking at LGBTQ families, assisted reproductive technologies, and adoption practices, kinship is being redefined as an intentional relationship rather than an expected one, a process of establishing connections through similarities or "affinity ties", and a practice or performance of "doing acts of kinship" such as participating in caretaking activities (Weston, 1991; Jones, 2005; Mamo, 2005; Hayden,

2007; Levine, 2008; Dempsey, 2010; Nordqvist, 2012; Logan, 2013; Nordqvist, 2014; Browne, 2018). McKinnon (2015) argues kinship operates within global economic and political institutions. By looking at how queer women living in Florida navigate family planning within specific institutions, this study seeks to answer how individual practices may transform heterosexual systems of kinship.

Klein et al. (2017) performed a systematic review of literature to assess the quality of family planning services for LGBTQ individuals in the United States. The authors found LGBTQ individuals often put off seeking family planning support due to barriers such as fear of provider discrimination, previous negative provider experiences, and a lack of provider knowledge (Klein et al., 2017). A recent survey of online information by Kreines et al. (2018) found there is a lack of quality family planning information for LGBTQ people online according to the 2016 US Department of Health and Human Services Website Information Reliability Evaluation Instrument. Kreines et al. (2018) found LGBTQ family planning content has increased since the 2015 ruling of the Marriage Equality Act, but information for bisexual and transgender individuals remains inadequate. In a study analyzing 379 fertility clinic websites for clinics across the US, Wu et al. (2017) found the likelihood of quality LGBTQ content online was impacted by clinic size and geographic region. These studies suggest resources for LGBTQ family building are insufficient and may be especially limited in certain regions in the US.

The gap between actual use and desired use of family building resources by queer women in the US suggests the current systems and policies in place are ineffective at meeting LGBTQ family needs. This gap provides policymakers, state and local court workers, and healthcare professionals a chance to create relevant resources and programs for LGBTQ families. Looking at how queer women in the US define and construct kinship through the current institutions and

within their daily lives can lead to applicable solutions to develop the resources and programs necessary to meet queer family needs..

2.2 Pathways to Parenthood

What is kinship and how is it created? Human kinship is defined as a set of practices, influenced by biological, cultural, economic, and political factors, used to establish and sustain informal and formal social bonds (Weston, 1991; Morgan, 1996; Jones, 2005; Mamo, 2005; Finch, 2006; Levine, 2008; Nordqvist, 2012; Logan, 2013; Nordqvist, 2014; Browne, 2018). There is not one singular criterion to define human kinship because human kinship is multidimensional (Cahn, 2013; Mamo, 2015). Bonding can occur along a wide variety of pathways.

A parent-child bond involves biological, cultural, and legal practices of establishing "guardianship," often tied to a rhetoric of proving parentage. Understanding how LGBTQ families pursue, balance, and negotiate parenthood is one way to begin conceptualizing how to redefine limiting legal definitions of custody and autonomy (Levine, 2008; Mamo, 2015). In the U.S., self-identified queer women have multiple options to establish parenthood, although access is controlled by state-approved programs and policies, in addition to federal regulations. The next few sections look at possible pathways to parenthood for queer women.

2.2.1 Genetic Pathways

Self-identified queer women have multiple options to establish genetic parenthood. Athome insemination techniques allow queer women to engage in the process of conception without requiring medical assistance. For at-home insemination techniques requiring donor sperm, unwashed sperm can be used to do Intracervical Insemination (ICI) or Intervaginal Insemination (IVI); however, the specimen must go through a sperm washing process in order to perform Intrauterine Insemination (IUI) at home (Tampa Bay Birth Network, 2019). IVI involves the placement of sperm into the vagina, ICI involves the placement of sperm into the cervix, and IUI is the placement of sperm directly into the uterus (Tampa Bay Birth Network, 2019). The sperm washing process is the process of creating a concentrated amount of semen and must take place at a specific facility (USF Health IVF and Reproductive Endocrinology, n.d.). Other options utilize medical assistance through assisted reproductive technologies. Those options include: In Vitro Fertilization (IVF), Reciprocal IVF (rIVF), and Surrogacy (Florida Fertility Institute, n.d.; Tampa Bay Birth Network, 2019). rIVF is also described as the reception of oocytes from partner or ROPA (Marina et al., 2010; Pennings, 2016). IVF involves the surgical removal of eggs from an ovary and then the fertilization of the egg in a laboratory dish (Florida Fertility Institute, n.d.). The fertilized egg is then implanted into the uterus (Florida Fertility Institute, n.d.). rIVF involves a routine IVF procedure, however, instead of implanting the fertilized egg in the uterus of the individual from whom the eggs were removed, the fertilized egg is implanted in the other partner's uterus (Path2Parenthood, 2019). For queer women, traditional surrogacy involves a non-partner third-party individual who would carry the pregnancy using their own fertilized egg (Path2Parenthood, 2019). The gestational surrogacy method would involve a routine IVF procedure; however, the fertilized egg would be implanted into a non-partner third party individual ("About Surrogacy", n.d.). Each pathway consists of multiple steps and may involve hormone treatments (USF Health IVF and Reproductive Endocrinology, n.d.; Florida Fertility Institute, n.d.). Some options may be more feasible than others and are determined by each individual or couple's resources and needs.

The same reproductive options are available for transpeople and individuals who identify as outside the binary to establish genetic ties to their children, although the individuals may need additional gender affirming care (Coleman et al., 2012; UCSF Transgender Care, 2016; Ingraham, 2017). Individuals who are transgender who decide to go through genital reassignment surgery may decide to freeze their eggs or sperm before permanently transitioning (Coleman et al., 2012; Deutsch, 2015). This can be a difficult decision because individuals beginning their transitions may not be in a position to face family planning decisions, may not be able to afford the cost of cryopreservation, may not be willing to stop their hormone treatments at that point in time in order to produce sex cells, or may not be comfortable participating in reproductive activities that are highly gendered (Jin & Dasgupta, 2016).

There are several ways genetic information is being exchanged in these encounters between partners, donors, surrogates, and children. For some transgender couples both partners are able to establish genetic ties to the child if one partner is able to share sperm cells and another partner is able to share egg cells, but for other LGBTQ couples only one partner is able to establish a genetic connection of kinship with their child. This means there will most likely be a third-party individual who may feel they have a claim to kinship because of their genetic connection (Wiley, 2017). Genetic ties are one way to fortify custody rights for LGBTQ parents; however, there are other biological routes that express parent-child kinship.

2.2.2 Biocultural Pathways

Genetic inheritance is not the only process to establish biological ties from parent to child. Parent caretaking practices lay the foundation of physiological and emotional regulation in children (Hofer, 1994). Scientists have documented multiple biobehavioral feedback systems that

construct attachment at the biological level, especially in regard to parents and their offspring. By taking a biocultural approach to this issue, this paper recognizes the process of constructing social and biological attachment is different for each relationship according to varying developmental, genealogical, and environmental conditions (Kuzawa, 2005). Studies on parent-child biobehavioral feedback systems in early development offer vivid insights into how parenting practices become biology through physiological and behavioral regulation.

How does biological attachment occur from parent to child? Hofer's (1994) work with rat mothers and their babies captures one of the more vivid expressions of the multiple biobehavioral feedback processes occurring within the routine interactions of the mother-infant relationship. By separating a rat pup from the mother and recreating different material aspects of their relationship, Hofer (1994) was able to isolate some of the more immediate physiological responses and their related variable conditions originally provided by the mother. Some of the earlier arising physiological and behavioral responses due to the separation of the pup from their mother were indicated by a change in heart rate, body temperature, and behavioral activity level (Hofer, 1994). As Hofer (1994) began recreating sensory and behavioral aspects of the motherpup relationship through olfactory, tactile, thermal, vestibular, auditory, and visual stimuli, even to the point of replacing the mother with a non-lactating foster mother, he found some of the pup's responses began to level back out. This demonstrates how the pup's biological responses are being mediated through routine caretaking practices involving physical and behavioral contact (Hofer, 1994). So what evidence is there for similar biological responses in human parent-infant relationships?

There are multiple pathways for parent-infant bonding to occur at the biological level. A closer look at early parent-infant caretaking practices shows that various biobehavioral feedback

systems are engaged through parent-infant interactions (Hofer, 1994; McKenna & Gettler, 2007; Gettler, McDade, Feranil, & Kuzawa, 2011; Miller, 2017). Numerous researchers have observed evidence of the impact of routine caretaking practices on both the parent's and child's behavioral, metabolic, endocrine, neurochemical, and autonomic systems (Hofer, 1994; McKenna, 1990; Gettler, et al., 2011; Kuzawa, 2009). Some of the ways parent-infant bonding may occur are through routine caretaking practices like sleeping, eating, and spending time together.

Studies on co-sleeping show how routine sleep practices can impact: an infant's sleep position, arousal patterns, sleep architecture, the number of maternal inspections, the thermal and CO2 environment, the duration of infant crying, as well as infant heart rate and breathing (McKenna & Mosko, 1990; McKenna, Mosko, Dungy, & McAninch, 1990; Mosko, McKenna, & Drummond, 1996; Mosko, Richard, & McKenna, 1997; McKenna & Gettler, 2007; McKenna, 2019); . These studies show mother-infant pairs who practice co-sleeping are able to synchronize their sleep states (Mosko et al., 1996; Mosko et al., 1997; McKenna, 2019). Synchronization suggests the biological bond established by caretaking practices may be traced from parent to child and vice versa.

Parents may also construct biological ties to their infants through infant feeding practices. Some of the noted biological impacts on an infant that are mediated through breastfeeding practices include hormone regulation, nutritional status, and immunological function (Miller, 2017). The immunological function of breastfeeding represents just one of the biobehavioral feedback systems established by breastfeeding. The term passive immunity is used to depict the directionality of the immunological relationship between mother and infant, suggesting the mother passes immunological information to the child. Miller (2017) argues biological evidence

of the immunological relationship between mother and infant mediated through breastfeeding practices points to a collaborative, not passive, relationship. More recently, researchers have started to look at the pathways an infant may pass information to the mother such as the microbiome, milk ducts, saliva, as well as skin-to-skin contact (Miller, 2017; McKenna, 2019). Human bonding occurs through collaborative routine interactions.

There is also biological evidence that shows new fathers exhibit changes in Testosterone levels, providing another example of the biological communication between infant and parent (Kuzawa et al., 2009; Gettler, 2010; Gettler et al., 2011). Researchers have found that fathers not only have a decrease in Testosterone overall during the first year after their child is born, but also demonstrate a significant decrease in Testosterone after just one hour of infant caretaking (Gettler et al., 2011).

Hofer (1994) argues parent-child bonding not only serves a biological purpose of physiological regulation, but also constructs the foundation for children to navigate emotional relationships and feelings. Understanding how emotional bonds are constructed leaves many important areas to be discovered, especially in relation to the pathways by which emotional bonds may form. These studies are not a comprehensive list of the many ways parenting practices may construct biological pathways to their child; however, they provide insightful examples of how parent-infant bonding occurs through collaborative biobehavioral feedback processes found in routine interactions.

Genetic expression is not required for a parent or child to exhibit effects of bonding at the biological level. Consequently, adoption and fostering can be considered a form of biological parenthood as well. The kinship bond may not be established through genes or a legal document, but the evidence of a parent-child relationship is biologically irrefutable. Parent-infant studies

show especially significant changes because infants are more susceptible to change while the child's foundational physiological responses are being established, however, bonds can be created throughout one's life (Kuzawa, 2005). As stated previously, the process of constructing social and biological attachment is different for each relationship according to varying developmental, genealogical, and environmental conditions (Kuzawa, 2005). Parenting practices also vary by regional and cultural beliefs and perspectives. Despite differences in parenting practices and routines, it is clear biocultural bonding occurs through child-rearing practices.

2.2.3 Legal Pathways

While recent changes in policies across the U.S. have given LGBTQ individuals the right to parental custody, queer parents continue to face barriers to obtaining and navigating parental custody. While LGTBQ individuals are able to apply for the same levels of custody that are available to straight individuals, queer families must take extra steps to fortify kinship and parental intention. This may involve seeking a second-parent adoption, a stepparent adoption, or negotiating pre- and post-birth contracts (Equality Florida, 2017; Tampa Bay Birth Network, 2019). LGBTQ couples facing the ambiguity of legal custody may not be able to participate in everyday life events like signing paperwork, taking a child to the doctor, or checking the child out of school (Raes et al., 2014).

The United States recognizes the following types of custody: legal custody, physical custody, voluntary kinship care, formal kinship care, foster care, emergency foster care, respite care, foster to adopt, and other types of adoption including open, closed, private, and public (Child Welfare Information Gateway, 2016; SAFY of America, 2019; Adoption Center, n.d.). A guardian may have legal custody but may not have physical custody (Child Welfare Information

Gateway, 2016). One example of this would be voluntary kinship care, for instance, if a parent is away for business and a grandparent is taking care of the child, the parent would still have legal custody, but the grandparent has physical custody (Child Welfare Information Gateway, 2016). Formal kinship care means the state assumes custody of the child and places them in the physical custody of a relative (Child Welfare Information Gateway, 2016). Foster care means the state assumes custody of the child and places them in the physical custody of a non-relative (Child Welfare Information Gateway, 2016). Emergency foster care is typically a short-term living situation which could last for a few hours to a few months (SAFY of America, 2019). Respite care is when one foster family provides short-term foster care for another a child living with a different foster family (SAFY of America, 2019). A foster to adopt scenario occurs when a family takes in a foster child with expectations to adopt the child (SAFY of America, 2019; Adoption Center, n.d). Open and closed adoptions refer to the level of information exchanged between the birth parents and adoptive parents, while public or private adoptions refer to the venue through which the child is selected (Adoption Center, n.d.). Queer women in the U.S. are able to claim parental rights through any one of those legal pathways but continue to face barriers seeking legal parenthood such as second-parent adoption (Dempsey, 2010; Raes et al., 2014; Pennings, 2016). Access to legal pathways to parenthood for people who are LGBTQ varies according to federal, regional, and local policies.

2.3 Strategies of Kinning

So far, this thesis has looked at genetic, biological, and legal pathways to parenthood including self, partner, or third-party insemination, IVI, ICI, IUI, IVF, ROPA, adoption, fostering and surrogacy. This paper has also attempted to extend the theoretical framework to

include biocultural processes of attachment through caretaking practices such as co-sleeping, breastfeeding, and spending time together. This section looks at several strategies LGBTQ individuals and couples may use to navigate biosocial connections. Some of the common strategies to maximize and balance biogenetic and social parenthood affinities include matching, alternating, using or creating shared genetic siblinghood, and narratives (Mamo, 2005; Raes et al., 2014; Nelson & Hertz, 2017).

2.3.1 Matching

For individuals with the option to select a donor or to adopt, matching is a biocultural strategy both straight and queer individuals and couples are known to use in order to maximize social and biogenetic affinities. Typically, matching is in reference to using ARTs, however, it can also reference the adoption selection. Matching may refer to matching donor characteristics to the non-genetic partner or parents attempting to match their own characteristics to a child's whom they might adopt (Jones, 2005; Florida Department of Children and Families, 2018). Some of the common characteristics couples or individuals may attempt to match include physical likeness, interests, and disposition (Mamo, 2005; Ravelingien, 2015; Florida Department of Children and Families, 2018). This strategy serves to balance the number and quality of kinship connections between each party involved and actively draws lines of kinship from the parents to the child (Jones, 2005; Raes et al., 2014; Nelson & Hertz, 2017).

2.3.2 Alternating

Another strategy, mostly used by LGBTQ people to build biogenetic connections from parent to child is to alternate biological, genetic, and social connections in order to maximize

affinities between partners to their children (Raes et al., 2014; Nelson & Hertz, 2017). For example, if two partners are capable and consenting then they could alternate who will be the genetic donor, most likely over multiple pregnancies. For some queer women, they can choose who is the genetic donor and who is the gestational carrier and may use a combination of strategies to balance kinship affinities for both parents. In the case of rIVF or ROPA, both women are able to take an intimate part in the biological development of their children; one would share the collaborative biological environment of the placenta, and the other would share their chromosomes and genes (Pennings, 2016).

2.3.3 Shared Genetic Donor

Parents using donor materials or participating in pregnancy with a surrogate may attempt to construct biogenetic ties between siblings by binding the siblings together using the same donor or surrogate (Nordqvist, 2014; Jones, 2005;). Some parents may deploy this strategy while also alternating which parent donates their genetic material. By balancing social and genetic kinship, parents not only create pathways from the child to themselves, but they find ways to create other lines of kinship between children and from their children to others. This is an example of how parents are not only connecting the child to themselves but also to the social world around them.

2.3.4 Stories

Stories are a way to convey information between people about human relationships and the world around them. Researchers have documented many narrative devices used to support parent-child kinship construction (Hertz & Ferguson, 1997; Hicks, 2005; Mamo, 2005; Raes et

al., 2014; Nordqvist, 2014; Nebeling, 2018). Three narrative devices found in recent literature are the following: Origin story (adoption or assisted reproductive technology), genealogy, and photography.

The origin story. Parents often tell their child an origin story that represents different milestones along their journey to parenthood (Nordqvist, 2014). This story could be the first day the parents found out about the child, the day the child was born, the day adoption papers are signed, or even the first time they met the donor. Parents may use the origin narrative to center their own parental intention (Mamo, 2007; Levine, 2008; Nordqvist, 2012; Mamo & Alston-Stepnitz, 2015; Pennings, 2016). Researchers have found queer families are more likely to tell their children their origin story earlier than straight couples (Marina et al., 2010; Crawshaw & Montuschi, 2014). The origin story is an opportunity for parents to fortify biological and social bonds to their child.

Genealogical stories. Some parents may work to foster bonds between their children and friends, previous parents, donors, and/or donor siblings by sharing the child's genealogy (Hertz & Ferguson, 1997; Dempsey, 2010). The child's genealogical narrative might consist of one story, or multiple stories, coincide with their origin story, or be discussed entirely separate from the origin story. Discussing genealogy not only helps parents to foster bonds between their children and the wider world, it also provides LGBTQ parents an opportunity to actively draw lines of kinship and distinguish who is the parent and who is not (Hertz & Ferguson, 1997; Dempsey, 2010).

Visual stories. Technology has rapidly changed how people communicate and interact which has created more pathways to foster kinship connections. Photography is a narrative device a family may use to connect the child to the world around them such as a time or place

(Howell, 2001; Howell, 2003; Nordqvist, 2014). A visual narrative enables families to produce material evidence of a story or memory that speaks to the connection between parents and child, and possibly the child to whatever subject may be in the frame (Howell, 2001). Photography provides material evidence to support the legitimacy of a family bond (Nordqvist, 2014).

2.4 Kinship Practices Summary

This section reviewed strategies some parents may use to fortify their parental kinship status. Parents may use these strategies to maximize the number of affinities to their children while also balancing relationships with their partners, donors, relatives, and friends. Parental kinship in this sense is not only a way for parents to share or transfer their own identities to their child but to also weave their child into a network of meaningful relationships (Hertz & Ferguson, 1997).). Many LGTBQI individuals do not have the option to have children or to claim legal kinship over their own children, integrating strategies to maximize kinship connections into inclusive family programs or initiatives is one way to strengthen family bonds and support healthier communities.

CHAPTER 3

REPRODUCTIVE GOVERNANCE AND FAMILY POLICY

3.1 Stratified Reproduction and Reproductive Governance

Stratified reproduction is defined as "as the local and global circumstances whereby some categories of people are empowered to nurture and reproduce, while others are disempowered" (Smietana, Thompson, & Twine, 2018, p.6). Stratified reproductive outcomes are evidence of systemic inequalities produced within and by specific state, institutional, and cultural practices (Colen, 1995, Mamo & Alston-Stepnitz, 2015, Mason, 2015). Evidence across the globe shows disparate reproductive health outcomes and deterrents to parental rights occur along political lines of class, race, gender, sexuality, disability, migration status, and place in a global economy (Shelley-Sireci & Ciano-Boyce, 2002; Corbett, Frecker, Shapiro, & Yudin, 2013; Ikemoto, 2015; Twine, 2015; Schwartz & Baral, 2015; Agénor et al., 2016; Hodson, 2017; Lenhardt, 2017; Lo et al., 2017; Wiley, 2017; Leibetseder, 2018). Researchers have documented several ways LGTBQ individuals pursuing parenthood might find themselves situated within an inequitable system (Nebeling, 2018). Due to programs, initiatives, and policies that either fall short of meeting the needs of LGBTQ families, or more directly discriminate against people who are LGBTQ wishing to pursue parenthood, LGBTQ individuals around the world do not have equal opportunities to become parents (Nebeling, 2018). In addition, certain assisted reproductive technological and adoption practices LGBTQ individuals and partners participate in may uphold systemic inequalities (Nebeling, 2018; Leibetseder, 2018;). It is important to identify translocal policies

and practices resulting in stratified reproductive outcomes and opportunities, in order to come up with applied strategies and policies to mitigate a community's unique needs.

The following examples look at how queer women experience stratified reproduction in the U.S. Schwartz & Baral (2015) completed a scoping literature review to evaluate potential gaps in the literature on safe pregnancy outcomes. The researchers found women who fell in the following four categories were reportedly understudied when it comes to safer pregnancy outcomes including women living with HIV, women who use drugs, LGBTQ women, and female sex workers. The authors claim that the lack of studies on safe reproductive health outcomes for these groups of women is evidence that certain reproductive futures are undervalued.

In a study with 165 African American women in Alabama, Agénor et al. (2017) found African American lesbian women were significantly less likely than bisexual women to have ever been pregnant. This example shows how stratification is multi-dimensional and can occur within marginalized groups. The authors found a lack of studies on pregnancy outcomes for queer African American women. By not systematically evaluating reproductive outcomes and opportunities for all groups, policymakers and institutions continue to sanction systems of inequality.

Reproductive governance refers to legislation and policies surrounding reproductive rights that shape broader patterns of reproduction (Casper & Morgan, 2004; Morgan & Roberts, 2015). Stratified reproduction and reproductive governance provide an applied framework to understanding how LGBTQ parenting outcomes and opportunities are greatly shaped by policy. In a study examining sperm bank practices involving in-depth interviews with 31 individuals living in San Francisco, Mamo (2005) found current policies, regulations, and guidelines do not

responsibly take into account how people and their human biological materials become embedded in a market through a chain of biocommodification, nor adequately address the generational consequences of shaping reproductive outcomes and opportunities. Fosset (2007) argues the lack of federal or international oversight allows for local, regional, and cultural nuances to be considered in the construction of regulations or guidelines. However, strategic action aimed at alleviating disparities for parenting outcomes needs to be taken across broader platforms in order to deter biocolonial practices such as the practice of transnational surrogacy (Fossett, 2007; Nebeling 2018). Policy can be a means to either sustain or eradicate systemic inequities and stratified opportunities for LGBTQ individuals pursuing parenthood. The following section addresses examples of reproductive governance and the impact of family policy on kinship practices.

3.2 Kinship Policies Around the Globe

The family planning needs of LGBTQ individuals and couples are not homogenous and should reflect cultural, regional, and other intersectional differences in perspectives and family building practices. Recently, policies have begun to take shape around the world in regard to LGBTQ relationships and the construction of kinship surrounding matters of marriage, adoption, the use of reproductive assistance technologies, and surrogacy. While some of the policies expand inclusion, other laws specifically ban LGBTQ individuals and couples from pursuing guardianship all together (Nebeling, 2018). In some areas of the world, the state of LGBTQ relationships remains criminalized (Nebeling, 2018; Nyanzi, 2013). Global studies on kinship structures, ARTs, adoption, and surrogacy give insight into how culture, policy, and power might change how individuals utilize different family building resources.

In Cuba, social policy, cultural practices, and limited access shape the available avenues to parenthood for LGBTQ individuals and couples. Browne (2018) interviewed 17 self-identified lesbian and bisexual Cuban women to examine their perception of state support for their families in reference to social policy. Same-sex partnerships are not recognized by the state, but due to social support programs including childcare, healthcare, and education many types of kinship structures such as non-nuclear, blended, and matrifocal households are able to flourish. Browne (2018) found the use of assisted reproduction technology is accepted but widely unavailable to LGBTQ individuals living in Cuba because of a shortage of resources. The shortage of available resources creates long waiting lists where heterosexual couples are given priority. Due to resource constraints, adoption is also limited for LGBTQ individuals and couples (Browne 2018). Even though LGBTQ families are supported by state mediated social programs, establishing equal rights for LGBTQ remains an important issue for the participants so they can begin to build their families within the parameters of their own comfort and desires.

China is known for their strong measures and policies used to regulate reproductive practices. Lo et al. (2016) surveyed 438 Chinese lesbian women living in Hong Kong to elicit their perceived importance of childbearing and attitudes toward assisted reproductive technologies. The authors also used the surveys to measure levels of anxiety. Currently, same-sex unions are not legally recognized in China and assisted reproductive technologies are only available for heterosexual married couples who are experiencing infertility issues (Lo, et al., 2016). Lo et al. (2016) found the majority of the participants wanted to legalize the use of ARTs for same-sex couples, although only half of the women wanted children of their own, and less than half said they would use assisted reproductive technology if they were given the choice. The authors found anxiety was positively correlated with the women's responses to the perceived

importance of childbearing to their partner or parents. Lo et al. (2016) suggest the women's anxiety could be related to the cultural emphasis on collectivism and heritage. The authors believe the participants' lack of desire to become parents could be related to the stigmatization of same-sex couples, policies against it, as well as the inaccessibility to legitimate avenues of conception or parenthood.

Studies in Egypt and Israel show how religion and policy shape the usage of reproductive assistance technologies. Inhorn (1994) found that according to religious beliefs of some Coptic Christians and Sunni Muslims, IVF is looked at as if it is not of the body and therefore any child conceived through this type of assisted reproductive technology would not be considered the couple's biological offspring (Mckinnon, 2015). This is important for LGBTQ family planning because for some cultures and religions reproductive technologies may not be considered a valid option to establish kinship. Kahn (2000) provides an example of how religious beliefs are tied to social policy in Israel in regard to assisted reproductive technology. Kahn (2000) points out the reason why Israel provides complete coverage of the use of assisted reproductive technology is because of their procreative cultural and religious beliefs. In both examples, the interaction between religious beliefs and social policy may impact the availability of reproductive services, the utilization of family building resources, and the meaning and rationalization of kinship practices.

The development of an international adoption market in South Korea provides an example of how social policy, race, and transnational military occupation came to shape global and national parenting opportunities. After the Korean War in the 1950s, American military men abandoned many Korean women with children (Wiley, 2017). Until 1989, it was South Korean policy for children born to unwed women to be taken from their mothers, and due to the lack of

social support programs, many women had no other choice (Wiley, 2017). Wiley (2017) found the state encouraged mothers to give up their children by using narratives of nationalism and morality. One technique used to advertise for the adoption of the children was their proximity to whiteness (Wiley, 2017). Many of the infants and children were shipped to the U.S. by cargo airplanes (Wiley, 2017). Due to devastatingly exploitative practices in the international adoption market, the Hague Convention on Intercountry Adoption was ratified in 1995, which required many countries to develop policies meant to deter international adoption and encourage domestic adoption practices (Wiley, 2017). The rise of the adoption market in South Korea is just one example of how policy, race, and power came to shape parenting outcomes and opportunities internationally.

Transnational surrogacy is an example of how class, race and regional policy construct power relations for LGBTQ individuals and surrogates. Nebeling (2018) found in his interviews with seven gay couples in Denmark that transnational surrogacy laws are rapidly changing. The couples initially sought out surrogates in India because the surrogate mother would not be listed on the birth certificate (Nebeling, 2018). However, in January 2013, legislators in India began passing policies to regulate the transnational surrogacy industry, including the need for a medical visa which requires couples to be heterosexual (Nebeling, 2018). The policies were meant to protect their citizens from exploitation, yet they simultaneously deny access for LGBTQ individuals (Nebeling, 2018). LGBTQ couples started to seek surrogates in Thailand, but after a couple from Australia abandoned a baby born with Down Syndrome in 2014, policy makers in Thailand completely banned transnational surrogacy and now require all applicants for domestic surrogacy be heterosexual (Zimmerman, 2016; Nebeling, 2018). This sparked a new industry for transnational surrogacy in Mexico, where legislation was quickly passed to ban all transnational

surrogacy in 2015 (Nebeling, 2018). Nebeling (2018) points out power relations in transnational surrogacy are very nuanced where even though the couples are using their economic and racial privileges to be eligible for reproductive technologies, LGBTQ individuals and families continue to experience discrimination through policy aimed at protecting citizens from transnational exploitation (Twine, 2011; McKinnon, 2015; Mamo & Alston-Stepnitz, 2015; Zimmerman, 2016; Leibetseder, 2018).

Each example shows how kinship may be imagined through and altered by institutions of power, policy, and culture. Regional differences in culture transform the meanings of kinship and impact policies that may legitimize, or delegitimize, options for LGBTQ family building efforts. In some cases, social policy may restrict access, which could lead to demand in another region, and in other cases, social programs may allow a variety of kinship structures to flourish but may not necessarily provide access to family building resources tailored for LGBTQ individuals and partners. Each example above takes place outside of the US and looks at how regional policies shape the realities of family planning. Most studies taking place in the US focus on identifying disparities stemming from the current family planning system in place. This study seeks to identify policies that may shape the landscape of available parenting options for LGBTQ families in Florida. However, the primary goal of this research is to examine how queer women wish to engage with family resources to build their families. This research will help to define the gap between actual use and desired use of family resources. As a small-scale ethnographic study, the research can more intimately examine the underlying themes guiding parenting intentions and preferences which could lead to a more in-depth understanding of how queer women living in the US may conceptualize kinship within the current policies, institutions, and systems in place.

CHAPTER 4:

METHODS

4.1 Setting

Florida is a coastal state located in the Southeastern corner of the United States. Florida's geography is very diverse including expansive coastlines, the Everglades, mangroves, limestone aquifers, large natural springs, cypress tree swamplands, and agricultural plains. Florida became the 27th state to join the United States in 1845 and now represents the 3rd largest state in the US in terms of population (Florida Department of State, 2019; U.S. Census Bureau, 2018). Currently, there are an estimated 21 million people living in Florida (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018). In 2019, Republicans control the majority in the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives.

Tampa Bay is located in the eastern central part of Florida and was built along the Hillsborough River that eventually leads into the Gulf of Mexico. Tampa was largely settled by Native American groups as well as Cuban, Spanish, Italian, and Eastern European immigrants (Mormino, 1998). The City of Tampa was established in 1855 (City of Tampa, FL 2019). Today, Tampa Bay has an estimated population of 3 million people and extends through multiple counties including Hillsborough County, Pinellas County, Pasco County, and Manatee County (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018). Some of the largest cities in the Tampa Bay area include Tampa, St. Petersburg, Clearwater, Brandon, Plant City, Bradenton, and Wesley Chapel.

The extensive area of Tampa Bay allows a diversity of industries to thrive including

marine-based industries, agriculture, aviation, defense, tourism, telecommunications, and manufacturing ("Employment and Industries in the Tampa, Florida Area," n.d.; Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019). There is a military base, multiple public and private universities, community colleges, vocational and technical schools, as well as three professional sports teams including the Tampa Bay Buccaneers (NFL), Tampa Bay Lightning (NHL), and the Tampa Bay Rays (MLB). Some of the economy is based on transient and seasonal population shifts including incoming and outgoing students during the Fall and Spring, incoming and outgoing military personnel, increased tourism throughout the Winter, Spring, and Summer months, seasonal work for agricultural communities, and multiple professional baseball teams use sports complexes located in the area as preseason training facilities in the Spring.

These seasonal shifts also contribute to transient demographics marked by migrant and refugee populations. According to categorizations by the 2010 United States Census, the population of Hillsborough County, the largest county in the Tampa Bay area, is made up of a majority of non-Hispanic White people, with a 25% Hispanic or Latino population, 16% Black or African American population, and less than 10% of the population represent people from other races or ethnicities (United States Census Bureau, 2010). Florida has the largest refugee population in the U.S., and Hillsborough and Pinellas Counties are two of the main areas that refugees are resettled. The refugees may be from Haiti, Cuba, the Democratic Republic of Congo, Syria, Iraq, Afghanistan, Myanmar, Ukraine, Colombia or Eritrea (Grogan, 2017). Desegregation was slowly carried out through the 1960s and 1970s, however, highway construction projects, discriminatory housing practices, and the 2008 recession have contributed to persisting disjointed neighborhoods (Prince, 2016). Racial and ethnic based neighborhoods are also common as a strategy for migrant communities to create communities within metropolitan

areas in order to have culturally relevant grocery stores, ethnomedical facilities, and other familiar commodities; however, neighborhood preference does not explain the persisting segregation between White and Black neighborhoods (Massey, 1994; Massey, 2004).

PRIDE, an annual event acknowledging the anniversary of the Stonewall Riots and celebrating LGBTQ lives, is held in both Tampa and St. Petersburg. Tampa has a few areas of nightlife dedicated to LGBTQ individuals in Ybor City, also referred to as "Gaybor"; while St. Petersburg has an area called the Grand Central district where businesses advertise as LGBTQ friendly. There is a neighborhood located south of St. Petersburg called Gulfport which has many LGBTQ residents. There are multiple LGBTQ community organizations and resources in the area that focus on LGBTQ sexual health, mental health, and homelessness; however, there are only a few businesses that refer to family building and reproduction. Metro Wellness is a non-profit organization established in Tampa in 1993 and has been dedicated to serving the LGBT community since its inception. Metro Wellness offers "comprehensive HIV services and medical care, social activities, classes, support groups, counseling, health and fitness programs, youth programs, substance abuse programs, older adult programs, behavioral health services and free HIV testing", however there is no mention for services to help create LGBTQ families (Metro Inclusive Health, n.d.)

There are twelve fertility clinics located in the Tampa Bay area including the Fertility Clinic of Tampa, Reproductive Medicine Group, University of South Florida IVF, Center for Reproductive Medicine, Florida Fertility Institute, and Shady Grove Fertility. The Fertility Clinic of Tampa is the only fertility center that does not perform assisted reproductive technology procedures and instead focuses on acupuncture, muscle testing, and nutrition (Fertility Clinic of Tampa, 2016). The Reproductive Medicine Group has four locations in the Tampa Bay area and

three of the clinics have opened within the last three years. The Reproductive Medicine Group website has been recently updated to include LGBTQ family services (Reproductive Medicine Group, n.d.). USF IVF has two locations in Tampa. The USF IVF website mentions family-building for single and LGBTQ parents but does not offer any additional information (USF Health, n.d.). The Center for Reproductive Medicine website does not mention LGBTQ family services (Center for Reproductive Medicine, 2014). There are two Florida Fertility Institute locations in Tampa Bay. The Florida Fertility Institute website advertises to LGBTQ individuals (Florida Fertility Institute, n.d.). Shady Grove Fertility, which opened two new locations in the Tampa Bay area in 2019, also advertises for LGBTQ family services (Shady Grove Fertility, n.d.).

Five out of the six fertility clinic websites address financing options except the Center for Reproductive Medicine website. The cost of services at the Fertility Clinic of Tampa ranges from \$4150 to \$4800. The USF IVF website re-directs the online viewer to another website that offers discount programs and loans for fertility treatments. All of the other websites including Shady Grove Fertility, the Florida Fertility Institute, and the Reproductive Medicine Group list certain insurance plans they accept while also offering discount programs, refund programs, and loans. The discount and refund programs have certain exclusions and eligibility requirements such as multi-cycle contracts or volunteer egg donation, and the discount or refund can only be applied to certain services. The same three fertility centers only offer financial assistance for individuals who do not have health insurance; however, the cost for treatment can range from \$5,000 to over \$40,000 which does not include maternity care.

Equality Florida, an organization focused on LGBTQ civil rights in Florida, offers a free Legal Handbook for LGBTQ families, and provides a FAQ section on their website regarding

current family law and policies, however, the website does not list any family building resource suggestions (Equality Florida, 2017). Planned Parenthood of Southwest and Central Florida advertises for LGBTQ health services but does not offer any direct family building services. The Ybor Youth Clinic is another resource in the area that provides services for LGBTQI individuals who are experiencing homelessness and for individuals who have HIV who range in age from 13 to 24 years old. The clinic offers free sexual health services, but, again, no direct services to build a family. The University of South Florida published a Guide to LGBTQ Resources in 2014 but there are no resources that refer to family building, reproduction, or adoption ("Guide to LGBTQ Resources," 2014). The Florida Department of Health does not offer any relevant prenatal initiatives, services, or resources for LGBTQ individuals (Florida Department of Health, 2017). There are no cost-friendly, or state-sponsored, family building resources that directly help LGBTQ individuals and couples to conceive.

4.2 Positionality

In order to provide further context to this research, I think it is important to acknowledge my positionality and how I came to focus on this thesis topic. I am a queer White woman who was raised mostly in the southern United States. Being a part of a military family and prior to moving to Tampa, the longest I had lived in any one city is four years. In 2012, I moved to Tampa and for the past seven years I have participated in the LGBTQ community in the Tampa Bay area. I have volunteered for LGBTQ community events, joined rallies and protests to bring awareness to LGBTQ and other social justice issues, and I have been actively researching LGBTQ health issues in the area for the past 5 years.

As a university student and through employment in the area, I have made friendships with LGBTQ folks along the way. In 2018, I became a mother. As a pregnant woman living under the federal poverty level, I began the process of applying for Florida Medicaid. This is when I started to become curious about the policies and procedures LGBTQ individuals must face to start a family, especially for individuals living near the federal poverty line. I knew this was a topic of interest within my community groups, and using my privilege as a student researcher, I began to explore the topic further. As I followed my own journey to parenthood, I began to take note of the effort for certain tasks required of LGBTQ individuals seeking parenthood. Due to pregnancy, lack of childcare, and other life demands I was unable to interview as many participants as were willing.

4.3 Recruitment

Recruitment for this study took place through snowball respondent-driven sampling methods (Trotter II, et al., 2015). Four couples living in the Tampa Bay area participated in the study. Each participant was interviewed individually leading to eight semi-structured interviews. This is not a representative sample and because of the heterogenic characteristics of the target population it is not practical to use a randomized sample (Guest, 2015). Participants were asked to refer individuals from their own networks to the study. To be eligible for the study the participant had to be over 18, be a self-identified queer woman in a relationship, and have lived in the Tampa Bay area for at least a year since the Marriage Equality Act passed in 2015. The participants were interviewed between November 2018 and May 2019. No research data was collected through email or social media.

4.4 Methods

Data was collected through individual interviews that ranged from 30 minutes to an hour and a half. Semi-structured interviews allow qualitative comparisons leading to a deeper analysis of individual perceptions (Levy & Hollan, 2015). The interviews were conducted verbally and face-to-face at a location of the participant's choosing which allowed an open forum for each participant to imagine navigating a pathway to parenthood. Individual interviews were conducted in order to understand individual preferences and to avoid placing any unnecessary pressure on the couple in the possible case the couple had not yet discussed a certain topic covered in the interview. Semi-structured, person-centered interviewing provides greater opportunities to elicit further detail than written responses or multiple-choice questions might. The interviews were conducted, recorded, and transcribed by the principal investigator. The semi-structured interviews included the following sections: Demographic Information, Beliefs Concerning Pathways to Parenthood, a forced-choice pile sort and preference ranking activity regarding the different pathways to parenthood, Detailed Preferences, Family Policy, and Resource Information and Result Dissemination.

- 1) *Individual and Demographic Information*: Participant information including (a) age, (b) ethnicity, (c) education level, (d) gender identity, (e) sexual orientation, (f) relationship status, (g) duration of residency in Tampa, and (h) whether or not the participant has health insurance.
- 2) *Pathways to Parenthood*: This section included open-ended questions asking participants to discuss the pathways to parenthood they are familiar with.
- 3) *Order of preferences:* A forced-choice pile sort and ranking activity by cards was administered to discuss participant preferences more thoroughly. The participants were asked to

sort cards with the following options into pathways they would consider and pathways they would not consider: Adoption, Fostering, Self or Partner Insemination, Direct Insemination by Donor, In Vitro Fertilization (IVF), Intrauterine Insemination (IUI), Reception of Oocytes from the Partner (ROPA), Traditional Surrogacy, and Gestational Surrogacy. The participants were asked to sort the remaining cards by order of preference. The participant's order of preferences provided further data on the participant's justifications, reasoning, and development of certain preferences, based on their own expectations, resources, and parameters. The order the participant ranked each pathway was discussed at length.

- 4) Detailed Preferences: This section ask participants about their individual preferences concerning family planning intentions regarding the self, partner, third parties, and the child. Questions in this section were based on responses from the previous exercise; for example, if the participant was not willing to consider adoption as a pathway to parenthood then the prompt asking for details about the adoption process was excluded. The semi-structured questions connected to themes gathered from recent literature on kinship and included questions of preferences concerning gestational carriers, breastfeeding, donors, and the processes involved with selecting kin. Open-ended prompts were utilized for response clarification, expansion of any emerging themes, and to elicit further detail of the nuances of the individual decision-making process.
- 5) Family Policy: Open-ended questions gave the participants the opportunity to share their opinion on family policies they are aware of in Florida and the United States. This section sought to act as a free-response space to give the participant a chance to discuss any policies they are aware of or have concerns about. Participants were also given the chance to give their own

suggestions for inclusive family building programs and policies. The responses may allow for direct conversation between policy makers and the participants.

6) Resources and Research Dissemination: Applied questions were used to involve the participants in the academic process so that they might actively participate in the co-construction of knowledge and to have a chance to voice how to appropriately apply the results directly back to the community. The questions in this section were intended to provide an opportunity for each participant to have control of their own data and results. This aligns with the Society for Applied Anthropology ethics regarding the dissemination of information and allows for the flow of resources back to the participants and possibly into the wider community.

4.5 Data Analysis

The interviews were transcribed and then analyzed through thematic analysis. Microsoft Excel was used for data entry. The thematic analysis focused on identifying participant preferences, the strategies participants may use to maximize kinship affinities, and any policies that might impact the participants' journey to parenthood. This method of analysis aligns with the tenets of Practice Theory- that people perform behaviors and practices based on their beliefs and resources, or habitus, and individual agency may be constrained by structural or personal factors (Ortner, 1984). Thematic analysis was used to identify themes each participant found important throughout the family building process and to provide broad reflections into the reproduction and transformation of the current kinship systems.

The open-ended questions surrounding preferences and current family planning policies in Florida were analyzed by comparing participant responses. The interview responses are not regarded as significant or as reflective of trends of the general population but may add to the

literature of what queer individuals find important along their journey to parenthood. This analysis will be useful to compare how queer women living in Florida desire to use family building resources and how policies may prevent or assist individual access.

4.6 Ethical Considerations

This research has been approved by the University of South Florida IRB. No funding was used to complete this project; therefore, this study is free from any conflict of interest involved with funding requirements or research agendas from outside institutions. This study recognizes knowledge is co-construed and is only able to happen with the participants' willingness to share their knowledge. Any contact information collected has been kept separate from data. No research data was sent through email or social media. This study is considered minimal risk. There were no express benefits to individual participants for this study. Participants did not receive payment or other compensation for taking part in this study. It did not cost the participants anything to take part in the study. All participants took part in an informed consent process.

CHAPTER 5:

RESULTS

5.1 Participant Characteristics

Four couples participated in the interviews for this study. Bridget and Erin are the first couple I interviewed. They are married and are both White. Bridget identifies as a non-binary femme who is queer. Erin identifies as an assigned female at birth with a non-binary gender identity and is pansexual. The couple have previously researched multiple pathways but have put their plans on hold until Erin finishes school. I interviewed Alex and Lauren next. Alex and Lauren have been together for over a year and are both White. Alex identifies as a lesbian woman, while Lauren identifies as a bisexual female. Lauren and Alex are not actively pursuing parenthood at the moment. The third couple is Jess and Val who have been together for over a year. Jess is White and of Jewish heritage, and Val preferred not to identify her race but identified her ethnicity as Hispanic. Jess says her gender identity is loosely female and she identifies as a lesbian. Val identifies as a gay female. Val and Jess would like to pursue parenthood and have discussed their preferred pathways but are waiting until they have more resources to begin actively seeking parenthood. The last couple I interviewed are Heather and Steph. Heather and Steph are married and are both White. Heather identifies as a queer woman and Steph identifies as a bisexual female. Heather and Steph are actively pursuing parenthood. They first chose to use a known donor but then decided to choose a donor through a sperm bank. All eight participants have at least some college experience. All participants had health insurance at the time of their interview either through the marketplace or employee benefits. At the time of the interviews, the participants ranged in age from 22 to 30. All names are made up in order to protect the participant's anonymity.

5.2 Interview Analysis

The interviews focused on individual attitudes and preferences towards various pathways to parenthood. The pile sort and ranking activity provided an opportunity for each participant to contemplate the values and boundaries that are important to them along their journey to parenthood. The participants were asked whether they would consider the following methods: self or partner insemination, direct insemination, intrauterine insemination, in vitro fertilization, reception of oocytes by the partner, traditional surrogacy, and gestational surrogacy. The participants were then asked to rank the pathways that they would consider pursuing in order of preference. The emerging themes across the interviews included the negotiation of kinship connections, health concerns, and concerns about policy. At the end of the interviews participants were given the opportunity to discuss any policies they are aware of that might impact their decision to build a family and each participant provided their own recommendations for future programs and policies concerning LGBTQ individuals navigating the various pathways to parenthood.

5.2.1 Known Pathways

All eight participants had a basic awareness of the different pathways to parenthood that were included in this study, even if all the pathways were not initially stated. One participant broadly defined the pathways into two categories: adoption and using a sperm donor. Three

participants stated additional methods not included in this study: the use of stem cells, using two women's chromosomes, and intra-cervical insemination which can be performed at home and could be considered a self or partner insemination technique.

5.2.2 Adoption vs. Conception

All eight participants said they would consider adoption, but it varied whether the participant would consider adopting primarily or as a last option. Five of the participants preferred adoption as their first option, while three of the participants would consider adoption as a final option. Some of the reasons why the participants prefer adoption over a route to pregnancy include: one participant prefers not to go through a medical procedure, one participant does not want to pass on a genetic disorder, two participants mentioned a family history of difficult pregnancies, and three of the participants brought up social justice and environmentalism as their motivation behind their preference to adopt. For example, one participant said,

One of the reasons we don't want to have kids biologically is just because like you can't do it together just from having sex, so we kind of thought that it would make more sense for us to adopt because there are a lot of kids who don't have homes and with climate change and all sorts of things that are going on, we just kind of thought, since we can reproduce by having sex anyways, we might as well adopt.

Another participant stated in reference to their preference for adoption,

I just believe that this planet is overpopulated and there are too many children without homes. I've never been too keen on bringing a child into the world because of all the problems this world has. The downside to having my own child is eventually the world is going to be too crowded.

Some of the reasons why pregnancy was preferred over adoption: six out of the eight participants felt that having a child that looks like them would be an advantage to choosing a biogenetic pathway, two participants wanted to experience pregnancy, and one participant said they would prefer to have a chance to raise their child from the very beginning.

5.2.3 Adoption and Fostering

Four participants collapsed adoption and fostering into a single category during the ranking activity, and three of those four participants specifically stated they would be more comfortable with a foster-to-adopt situation. Three of the eight participants stated they would consider adoption but did not feel comfortable with a foster only situation because they felt it would be emotionally challenging for various reasons. When discussing the possible difficulties of fostering one participant stated,

I don't know how I would feel putting so much love and care into somebody and then them not be in my care anymore. I don't have a good mental space to be able to handle things like that. People that I love or things that I love being gone, stuff like that, or having the possibility of being put into the situation where they wouldn't be in as good of

an environment, and then I would feel completely guilty. I think I would feel better with adoption because I wouldn't be having a child possibly leave my care.

Only one participant solely wanted to either Adopt or Foster and preferred not to pursue other pathways; however, during the ranking activity the participant did discuss other pathways.

5.2.4 Self or Partner Insemination vs ARTs

All eight participants would consider at-home insemination techniques. For five of the eight participants, self or partner insemination came before the use of assisted reproductive technology. The five participants who would consider self or partner insemination before using ARTs mentioned they would prefer taking the route of least medical intervention. One participant discussed how they feel about IVF in particular,

Umm, I don't like, I just don't like the invasive, them removing things from me to then put them back. It just seems like, one- painful, and two- very uh impersonal. Just kind of invasion of privacy and stuff like that just makes me feel weird.

One individual who prefers to use assisted reproductive technology before trying at home self or partner insemination stated it was because they believe pregnancy would be more likely achieved under a medical professional. This same individual mentioned it would take an emotional toll on her to go through multiple attempts of pursuing pregnancy. Another participant would only consider adopting or self or partner insemination and preferred not to use assisted reproductive technology. One couple mentioned they prefer to do at-home insemination because

they feel it has the highest success rate, lowest medical intervention, keeps costs down, and allows them to keep the conception process an intimate experience between partners.

5.2.5 ARTs and ROPA

Four out of the five participants who would consider ROPA ranked the different assisted reproductive technologies in the same order first preferring to pursue IUI, then IVF, and then ROPA. One participant ranked ROPA before any other assisted reproductive technology, while their partner would consider ROPA but not any other assisted reproductive technology. This same couple both mentioned they would like for both partners to get to participate in the reproductive process.

5.2.6 Pathways Less Likely to be Considered

Some of the pathways that were less likely to be considered were the two types of surrogacy and direct insemination. Three of the participants stated they would possibly consider surrogacy if one or both of the partners were physically unable to go through pregnancy and they found themselves unable to adopt.

5.2.7 Pregnancy

After the ranking exercise, the participants were asked more details about their preferences concerning pregnancy, adoption, and selecting a donor. Each individual answered the question, "Who would you prefer to be pregnant?", with the same answer as their partner, even though two couples mentioned they have not yet discussed this topic with their partner.

Only one couple said they would both like to experience pregnancy. Out of the three participants

who preferred for their partners to be the one to carry, two were the only participants to identify as lesbian, and the third participant is the only person who did not identify as a woman, female, or femme. Two of these same three participants also stated they preferred not to be pregnant because of a family history of difficult pregnancies and the third participant did not want to pass on a genetic disorder. Despite preferring not to take part in the gestational aspect of reproduction, all three of the participants were interested in ROPA and did not mind taking part in the assisted reproductive labor.

5.2.8 Breastfeeding

Six out of the seven participants who would consider becoming a parent to an infant said they would be interested in using breastmilk when they were asked. One couple stated they would be interested in finding donor breastmilk if they found both partners were unable to breastfeed, while two participants said they prefer not to use donor milk because they may not know the contents of the breastmilk. One of the participants who would prefer not to be pregnant said they would try to breastfeed if their partner was unable and if they were able to induce lactation. The couple who would both like to experience pregnancy expressed interest in conursing either by inducing lactation through the Newman-Goldfarb method or in the scenario one partner goes through childbirth they hope to follow tandem breastfeeding practices. The Newman-Goldfarb method involves inducing lactation so that an individual may breastfeed without going through a pregnancy (Canadian Breastfeeding Foundation, 2002).

5.2.9 Adoption Factors

The factors the participants brought up when considering adoption included age, race,

mental and physical health, sexual orientation, and custody status. While only one of the participants stated the child's age did not matter, the other seven participants said they prefer to adopt a child within a certain age range. One of the participants said she would prefer adopting an infant, while another participant specifically said she does not want to adopt an infant. Two other participants said they would be interested in adopting older kids. One couple both mentioned they would prefer to adopt a child younger than 6, however, they would like to have a child through a biogenetic pathway first before considering adoption. The couple said the reason why they would prefer to adopt a younger child is because they both felt they would be unable to meet a preteen or teenager's needs. This same couple stated race would not be a factor of preference for adoption, even though it was an important issue for them when considering ARTs.

Mental and physical health was a major concern for all eight participants. Five of the participants raised concerns about their own mental health limiting their ability to provide the children with what they need. One participant stated she would not be able to provide the resources for a child with a severe mental or physical disability because of the responsibilities of her career path and home life which involves nurturing a multi-species community. The participant stated,

I don't think I would be strong enough to handle like any kind of real serious mental or physical handicap. Because all of the stuff that I do, it would depend on the severity and stuff but anything like that would inhibit basically my ability to still do what I do with the birds and outdoors and nature and all that kinds of stuff. I view this adoption/fostering thing as like an additive deal to all that. Rather than one that would limit my ability to

carry on in my life and like develop professionally and like personal growth and all of that stuff kind of by extension of the career path.

This participant also stated later in the interview, "I know a lot of people who have fur children and it doesn't make them any less of a family regardless of like their relationship".

Another participant specified they would prefer to not have a child with a personality disorder because of how it might impact their own mental health and prevent them from providing their child with the right environment. One couple mentioned they were alerted by a community organization about the need to adopt LGBTQ kids in the area and they both feel this could be a factor they would look for when pursuing adoption.

Five of the participants asked questions about the differences in how open, closed, public, and private adoptions operate. Seven out of the eight participants prefer for the adoption to be an open adoption. The one participant who would prefer a closed adoption still wanted to know the parents' medical history. Three participants brought up issues over the differences in how state and private adoptions operate. One participant felt confused with how religion might come up in the adoption process, especially voicing a concern that religiously affiliated groups are able to directly discriminate against LGBTQ adopters. Five of the eight participants also brought up concerns about the second-parent adoption process as an important LGBTQ issue.

5.2.10 Donor Factors

Selecting a donor. The participants were interested in a number of topics when it came to donor preferences including anonymity and choosing from a sperm bank. Participants thought mental health, genetic health, family history, personality characteristics, physical looks, race, and

emotional and general intelligence were all important factors in the process of selecting a donor. Mental and genetic health were most commonly listed as the most important factor to be considered. One couple said race is the first factor they decided on as they began the process of selecting a donor. One of the partners said the couple asked themselves, "What would be the meaning behind choosing a donor with a race different than both of ours? Because we're both White, it would be irresponsible for us to do so". Five of the participants brought up the donor's emotional intelligence as an important factor in donor selection. The participants felt it was important to them that the donor has empathy for them as parents, empathy toward any possible future offspring, and is generally a kind person. One participant said they would prefer the donor to be "someone who is donating for good reasons and is just an all-around good person, that's kind of a fun story, I guess, in your head or for your kid". One participant mentioned intelligence as one of their top three important factors, while one couple stated academic achievement was their least important consideration.

Donor anonymity. Most participants would like some degree of knowing who the donor is. The preferred amount of donor contact ranged from only needing some general health information about the individual, to feeling more comfortable having a well-known friend or sibling be the donor. One couple felt it is almost impossible to keep any adoption truly closed because of the use of popularized DNA kits and genealogy websites and their unintended consequences of revealing cases of adoption. Five of the participants wanted the donor to be a stable and present influence in the child's life. One participant contemplated donor involvement by imagining the story she might tell her child about the donor's role in the child's life.

Selecting a sperm bank. One couple went into depth about how they not only chose a donor but also the process of selecting a sperm bank. The couple's initial plan was to use a

known donor, but after this no longer worked for them, they began searching for donors through sperm banks. This took them on a nation-wide sperm bank facilities search. The couple ended up selecting the sperm bank they used because of one main policy-- the cap on how many families may use one individual's donated genetic material. The sperm bank they selected only allows 10 families to use the donor's genetic material. The next lowest limit was 25 families. The partners would like to set their children up as genetic siblings so it is their hope this will be able to happen before the limit is reached. One of the partners mentioned that there is no way to enforce the bank's policy to report any live births, but they both feel it would be in their best interest to report any births they might have.

5.3 Policy Concerns

When asked to define family, one participant commented, "It doesn't have to be biological or legal, but I think the legal aspect really matters because so much can be taken away from us as LGBTQ citizens in this country and we don't really know what's coming down the pipe. So, I feel that is what's important to me to be able to, like, have legal guardianship of whatever children". Participants voiced concerns over multiple policies. One of their concerns is that birth certificates that list an LGBTQ couple as the parents may not be recognized across state or county lines. Five of the eight participants mentioned concerns about second-parent adoption and felt it was an undue burden for LGBTQ individuals seeking parenthood. For example, one participant stated,

One thing that was taken into consideration for us as well is that, federally, adoption is considered king as far as rights go and if I understand correctly, even if you're on the birth certificate, as queer parents in certain states you don't have rights unless you're an adoptive parent. So, if we did intra-uterine insemination, for us to be protected with our child leaving the state we would still have to have Erin adopt the child even if they're on the birth certificate and we're married and all of that stuff. Where couples in heterosexual relationships are able to be okay, we would have to go through a second-parent adoption to make sure if we were traveling in one of those states. And you know if something happens to me my partner could have the child taken away from them if you don't have the second-parent adoption, even if they're on the birth certificate. So, I think that's still the case in some states so that is a consideration because like either way we have to go through adoption. That's kind of an invisible stress that a lot of people may not think about because even if you go through the process, kind of in parallel or the same kind of process that a heterosexual couple might go through, you know, you still have to go through that extra hoop. And unfortunately, there are, there's plenty of legislation around gay families that is really just a vanity plate, that doesn't have substantial precedent or water to it as some other legislation does. So, you have to be careful and know what your rights are and where because you don't have the same rights everywhere".

One couple in the study felt that pre- and post-birth contracts are precarious and saw donor bank regulations such as the Birth Reporting policy to be ineffective at holding people accountable. One participant stated the United States only regulates sperm quality when it comes to using assisted reproductive technologies leaving standards of care largely up to the donor banks, fertility centers, and physicians. One participant felt assisted reproductive technologies

were exploitative and should be better regulated because the technologies show low rates of success. She stated,

IVF is a product now, it's not necessarily a treatment in terms of the kind of complications associated with it. And most things are like that with health insurance, you know, but for something like that it's a very... it lends itself to very significant marketing ploys. So it should be covered so it's more accessible to people and I would imagine too if you are, really anybody, if you are somebody who is unable to get pregnant in the traditional sense there's, depending on your situation, but for a lot of people if you put the numbers together for how much it costs and the percentage, the chances it won't even work, I think that for a lot of people it would immediately be the deciding factor. Like if we thought about it, we're just going to make it a fleeting thought rather than something to pursue.

Four of the participants were concerned over conscious clause policies that may allow companies or doctors to refuse treatment or services to LGBTQ individuals. Two participants voiced concerns that a conscious clause policy could possibly affect their child's medical treatment.

5.4 Emerging Themes

Some of the emerging themes found throughout the eight participants' interviews involve the negotiation of kinship preferences and connections, concerns about health, and policy concerns. The participants negotiated their preferred pathway to parenthood along physical and emotional boundaries. Each participant followed a similar pattern of negotiation, by weighing their boundaries with their partner's preferences along with their own ability to care for the needs of a child. Some of the points of negotiation include: the participant's emotional capacity to handle certain procedures involved with a specific pathway, such as attempting pregnancy or saying goodbye to a foster child; the participant's physical boundaries such as their inclination toward medical procedures; and the participant's willingness to adjust their own emotional and physical boundaries based on their partner's preferred pathway to parenthood. Some of the strategies the participants discussed to maximize kinship connections include co-nursing, using a sibling to create a genetic connection, alternating the gestational carrier, using a shared genetic donor to create siblings, establishing narratives to discuss donor involvement, and constructing a child's physical likeness to "mirror the family" through various tactics. All eight participants voiced concerns about mental and physical health whether it be in regard to their own health, the donor's health, or the child's health status. The participants were concerned about donor health status as it would impact their child's life. The participants' policy concerns are addressed in the following section.

CHAPTER 6:

DISCUSSION & CONCLUSIONS

6.1 Summary of Key Findings

The participants showed a willingness to negotiate their preferences according to their individual needs, the needs of their partner, and the child's needs. The most commonly preferred pathway for the participants was adoption, then self or partner insemination, and the use of assisted reproductive technology. Some of the factors the participants brought up when considering adoption include age, mental and physical health, sexual orientation, and custody status. Participants thought mental health, genetic health, family history, personality characteristics, physical looks, race, as well as emotional and general intelligence were all important factors in the process of selecting a donor. Some of the barriers to parenthood the participants brought up include costs, time, legal proceedings, policy, family history, disability, mental health, and fear of discrimination. The individuals in this study showed a propensity to manage and cultivate complex relationships and bonds by anticipating the needs of the people, and animals, around them.

Another interesting finding is the role the participant's parents played in a discussion of parenthood. At the end of the interviews, two of the participants brought up how their parents responded to the participants 'declaration of coming out. Both participants said when they came out as queer to their parents, the parents' main concern was that they would not be able to have a child. Another participant mentioned that while both of the couple's parents are supportive of the

couple's decision to pursue parenthood, in the beginning the participant's father told the couple he preferred for them to seek adoption. I feel these responses reveal a generational perception that LGBTQ people do not reproduce or have families. This is telling of the general climate the participants and other LGBTQ individuals have grown up in. Even though ARTs have been around for decades, the idea that LGBTQ individuals can and will have healthy families is still not the general perception.

There remains a lack of trusted, comprehensive resources for LGBTQ individuals to make informed decisions about family planning. As Kissil & Davey (2012) also remark, I believe this is due to a reluctance of our state legislators to address policy concerning LGBTQ individuals or the use of ARTs in an equitable partisan fashion, for fear of backlash (Casper & Morgan, 2004). The reluctance to pass legislation offering the same protections for LGBTQ individuals indicates legislators do not acknowledge the value of healthy queer families. Family planning efforts should focus on empowering all parents to make the most informed choices for their families regardless of relationship status, race, ethnicity, or economic background.

6.2 Contributions of Findings to Literature

The self-identified queer individuals in this study brought up similar strategies that participants in other kinship studies have discussed including matching, alternating, using the same genetic donor to create siblings, and using stories to maximize their kinship connections. Other strategies the participants in this study brought up include using a sibling to create a genetically related child, inducing lactation so that both partners may nurse, tandem nursing, and co-species parenting. The participants revalue their reproductive futures by using these strategies to construct their own standards of meaningful kinships. This is evident in the participants desire

to secure guardianship through their awareness of second-parent adoption, adherence to birth reporting policies, and a commitment to intimacy. Despite the small size of the study, the participants showed a wide variety of approaches to arrange various biological, genetic, legal, and social lines of kinship to their children and from their children to the networks around them. The variety of participant preferences only affirms and validates the need to have family programs that acknowledge multiple pathways to arrive at parenthood.

6.3 Applied Dimensions and Recommendations

6.3.1 Policy Concerns

In order to address the policy concerns of the participants, this section looks at anti-discrimination laws, state custody laws, and laws surrounding the use of assisted reproductive technologies. Florida does not have an explicit state-wide non-discrimination policy to protect LGBTQ individuals (Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992). Several counties in Florida have established non-discrimination ordinances that extend protections to LGBTQ individuals especially in regard to employment. In 2014, Hillsborough County legislators voted to amend the Hillsborough County Human Rights Ordinance No. 00-37 to put non-discrimination protections in place for LGBTQ individuals in regard to employment, public accommodations, and housing (Municode, 2012). While some states directly give religious organizations the right to discriminate on the basis of sexual orientation, Florida does not directly address one way or another whether religiously affiliated private adoption agencies have the right to discriminate against LGBTQ individuals who would like to adopt (Bewkes et al., 2018). The lack of policy protections for LGTBQ individuals living in Florida is not only a barrier for LGBTQ individuals

seeking parenthood, it also impacts the present and future of children waiting to be a part of a family (Bewkes et al., 2018).

The 2019 Florida Statutes Chapter 63 on 'Adoption', as well as 2019 Florida Statutes

Chapter 742 on the 'Determination of Parentage', lacks inclusive wording. While Florida allows

LGBTQ couples who are married to be listed on their child's birth certificate, other states may

not recognize the birth certificate as a Determination of Parentage (Equality Florida, 2017; FLA.

STAT. § 742, 2019). Local LGBTQ advocacy groups suggest LGBTQ parents complete a

second- or stepparent adoption because all states are required to recognize court-ordered

adoption papers (Equality Florida, 2017).

The Fertility Clinic Success Rate and Certification Act (FCSCRA) of 1992 is the only federal policy that addresses the use of assisted reproductive technology in the United States (Mamo, 2005; Kissil & Davey, 2012). The FCSCRA and its initiatives aim to document national ART rates and outcomes. The Society for Reproductive Medicine dictates guidelines for the use of ARTs in the US; however, it is mostly left up to the clinics to decide things such as who is able to become a donor and how the donor materials are put to use.

Florida does not require health insurance companies to cover ARTs, even though federal policy requires insurance companies to cover costs pertaining to pregnancy and childbirth ("What Marketplace Health Insurance Plans Cover," n.d.). In addition, the way insurance companies label the use of assisted reproductive technologies as "Infertility Treatment" could be a potential barrier for LGBTQ individuals pursuing parenthood since LGBTQ individuals may only face "social infertility" which may not be recognized as a medical diagnosis elective for coverage ("See 2018 Plans & Prices," n.d.). Because Florida did not extend Medicaid coverage after the Affordable Health Care act passed in 2010, many people go without insurance coverage,

so even if insurance companies are held to a higher standard of care, access to one's preferred pathway to parenthood may still be limited. These policies, initiatives, and guidelines prove to be inadequate at providing protections for LGBTQ individuals seeking a family and at addressing the barriers and inequities LGBTQ individuals and families continue to face.

6.3.2 Participant and Study Recommendations

How can states and local communities create inclusive family planning programs and initiatives to meet the needs of LGBTQ individuals who are looking to start a family? The participants in this study offered a variety of program suggestions especially in reference to ART coverage and the foster-adoption process. All participants felt insurance companies should at least cover a percentage of the costs associated with the use of assisted reproductive technologies. Six of the eight participants thought the use of assisted reproductive technology should be fully covered. One participant felt insurance policies should cover at least 75% of the costs associated with using assistive reproductive technologies, but ideally, they would like it to be covered 100%. This same participant also thought there should be a limit on the number of children who are born by the use of assisted reproductive technology. The participant suggested a limit of three children per family. Three participants voiced concerns over the adoption process and felt initiatives should be put in place to make foster placements and adoptions less emotionally difficult and stressful for potential parents and children. Some of the other suggestions by participants include setting up family building workshops for LGBTQ individuals and initiating a legal fund that could offset some of the additional legal obligations and costs queer families may encounter.

This study has compiled a list of recommendations based on policy and program suggestions by reporting agencies, the study participants, and other researchers who are studying kinship. These strategies aim to create inclusive family programs and initiatives to improve the lives of LGTBQ individuals and families living in Florida. Attempts to develop anti-discrimination laws at the federal level for LGBTQ individuals in the US have not yet been successful. Until there are explicit non-discrimination policies in place for LGBTQ individuals at the national level, grassroots efforts should focus on putting protections in place at the state level. Although Florida recognizes LGBTQ guardianship on the basis of a birth certificate, it is important that all states recognize the proceedings of the birth state, so that families are not torn apart across state lines.

National policy needs to be developed to regulate the use of assisted reproductive technologies within a broader framework. The existing ART reporting system can be a powerful analytical tool and system of accountability. One suggestion is for The Society for Reproductive Medicine to enlist the help of biological anthropologists to not only develop adequate national guidelines for the use of assisted reproductive technologies, but to also work with donor banks and fertility centers to interpret any short- and long-term consequences of current best practices. Some examples of the clinical and donor bank practices that biological anthropologists are particularly trained to deal with include birth reporting policies, the handling of biological materials, and creating sensible limits on the use of the human reproductive biomaterials.

Federal policy could be more inclusive by amending the Affordable Care Act to incorporate the use of assisted reproductive technologies as a part of pregnancy and childbirth services covered under essential health benefits. Policy focusing on the coverage of assisted reproductive technology should also reconsider the definitions of infertility diagnoses in order to

enable LGBTQ individuals to receive the healthcare they need to begin healthy families. Until the coverage of ARTs is addressed at a federal level, Florida Legislators should work with health insurance companies to develop policy requirements for at least the partial coverage of assisted reproductive technologies. Another suggestion is that as a state that does not require coverage of ARTs, perhaps the state could offer temporary assistance for individuals who would qualify for Medicaid coverage if pregnant to pursue pregnancy, such as buying the supplies needed to perform at home insemination or purchasing donor sperm.

Local organizations and stakeholders should work together to provide centralized resources for LGBTQ families looking for family-building assistance. A supportive LGBTQ family assistance program will recognize multiple pathways to arrive at parenthood. One strategy to empower LGBTQ individuals to pursue their preferred pathway to parenthood is to offer family-building workshops (Crawshaw & Montuschi 2013). The workshops could train community members on certain procedures involved with pursuing parenthood such as how to navigate various pathways, legal procedures, and state policies. Another suggestion is for stakeholders to come together to create local and national resource guides for LGBTQ individuals to locate any community, medical, and legal services needed to start building a family. There should also be a reasonable attempt to provide personal counseling for LGBTQ individuals pursuing parenthood to help interpret parent profiles, donor profiles, and possible outcomes for the child.

The participants in this study and other kinship studies have demonstrated resilience by developing different strategies to maximize and fortify kinship bonds, despite facing uncertainties. These strategies could be integrated into the curriculum of family-building programs by offering family-building activities and events. Fostering family and community

connections could help to build healthier families and stronger community networks. Community members and legislators can demonstrate their commitment to providing a better future for all families in the US by using their resources to aim for more inclusive policies and programs.

6.4 Limitations and Future Directions

This is not a randomized study and therefore does not hold any statistical significance. This research is not generalizable to the entire population of LGBTQ individuals living in the U.S. or even in Florida because of differences in state and county legislation and other local contexts; however, the data in this study adds to the small amount of literature on the family building needs of queer individuals living in the southern United States. While the semi-structured interview provides a more effective format to explore a range of discussion topics, it also lacks internal validity. The majority of participants in this study are queer White women who have at least some college education and who all have health insurance. More research is needed to understand how LGBTQ individuals of different cultures, races, and ethnicities living in the US would like to utilize family building resources. Also, future research should aim to include participants with a wider range of education backgrounds, socioeconomic statuses, disabilities, and should include individuals without insurance coverage. It is important to continue to document the ways queer individuals wish to seek parenthood in order to build relevant programs that are inclusive of all LGBTQ individuals.

6.5 Conclusion

Will Florida continue to be one of the last states to revise their policies and extend protections to include LGBTQ individuals? Policy takes time to pass because there are only

certain windows of legislature activity. Community programs can be built into existing community organizations; however, this can also take time. The LGBTQ community continues to be caught in between gaps in policy that may result in lifelong and possibly generational consequences. This type of reproductive governance where policy and initiatives fail to meet the needs of all families results in stratified reproductive outcomes and opportunities for LGBTQ individuals and their families. The barriers and additional expectations for queer people to become parents are mentally, emotionally, and physically burdensome. Acknowledging there are multiple pathways to arrive at parenthood and that parenthood is not singularly a biogenetic phenomenon, is a start to reforming family policy. Broad efforts should be made to develop a culturally, socially, emotionally, and biologically encompassing standard of ethics surrounding reproductive and kinship practices. Reproductive and family issues should be at the forefront of ethics discussions because these matters involve biological labor and may result in generational consequences. It is irresponsible not to address these issues in a cooperative way at a broader scale. Family programs and policies that do not create culturally relevant solutions especially for issues surrounding race, sexuality, and socioeconomic status are programs and policies that will continue to set communities up to fail.

REFERENCES

- About Surrogacy. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://surrogate.com/about-surrogacy/types-of-surrogacy/
- Adoption Center (n.d.). Types of Adoptions. Retrieved September 12, 2019 from http://www.adopt.org/types-adoptions
- Agénor, M., Austin, S. B., Kort, D., Austin, E. L., & Muzny, C. A. (2016). Sexual & Reproductive Health: Sexual Orientation and Sexual and Reproductive Health among African American Sexual Minority Women in the U.S. South. Women's Health Issues, 26612-621. doi:10.1016/j.whi.2016.07.004
- Bewkes, F. J., Mirza, S. A., Rooney, C., Durso, L. E., Kroll, J., Wong, E. (2018). Welcoming all families: Discrimination against LGBTQ foster and adoptive parents hurts children. Center for American Progress. Retrieved from: https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/lgbt/reports/2018/11/20/461199/welcoming-all-families/
- Browne, E. (2018). Lesbian and bisexual women in Cuba: family, rights, and policy. Gender & Development, 26(1), 71-87. doi:10.1080/13552074.2018.1429090
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2019). News Release: Occupational Wages in Tampa-St. Petersburg-Clearwater-- May 2018. U.S. Department of Labor. (19-1113-ATL). Atlanta, GA. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/regions/southeast/news-release/pdf/occupationalemploymentandwages tampa.pdf
- Canadian Breastfeeding Foundation. (2002). Breastfeeding Your Adopted or Surro-baby Newman-Goldfarb Protocols for Induced Lactation. Retrieved from https://www.canadianbreastfeedingfoundation.org/induced/induced.shtml
- Casper, M. J., & Morgan, L. M. (2004). Constructing Fetal Citizens. *Anthropology News*, 45(9), 17.
- Center for Reproductive Medicine. (2014). Doc Welden. Retrieved September 15, 2019 from http://www.tampabayinfertility.com/index.html
- Chapman, R., Wardrop, J., Zappia, T., Watkins, R., & Shields, L. (2012). The experiences of Australian lesbian couples becoming parents: deciding, searching and birthing. *Journal of Clinical Nursing (John Wiley & Sons, Inc.)*, 21(13–14), 1878–1885.

- Child Welfare Information Gateway. (2016). Kinship caregivers and the child welfare system. [PDF file]. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Children's Bureau. Retrieved from https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/f_kinshi.pdf
- Children's Bureau (2018). The AFCARS Report: Preliminary FY 2017 Estimates as of August 10, 2018– No. 25. Washington, DC. Retrieved from: https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/cb/afcarsreport25.pdf
- City of Tampa, Florida. (2019). Tampa History. Retrieved from: https://www.tampagov.net/info/tampa-history
- Colen, S. (1995). Like a mother to them: Stratified reproduction and West Indian childcare workers and employers in New York. In F. D. Ginsburg & R. Rapp (Eds.), Conceiving the new world order: The global politics of reproduction (pp.78-102). Berkeley: University of California Press
- Coleman, E., Bockting, W., Botzer, M., Cohen-Kettenis, P., DeCuypere, G., Feldman, J., Meyer, W. J. (2012). Standards of Care for the Health of Transsexual, Transgender, and Gender-Nonconforming People, Version 7. *International Journal of Transgenderism*, (4), 165.
- Corbett, S. L., Frecker, H. M., Shapiro, H. M., & Yudin, M. H. (2013). Access to fertility services for lesbian women in Canada. *Fertility and Sterility*, 100(4), 1077–1080.
- Crawshaw, M., & Montuschi, O. (2013). Participants' views of attending parenthood preparation workshops for those contemplating donor conception parenthood. *Journal of Reproductive & Infant Psychology*, 31(1), 58–71.
- Dempsey, D. (2010). Conceiving and Negotiating Reproductive Relationships: Lesbians and Gay Men Forming Families with Children. *Sociology*, 44(6), 1145–1162.
- "Employment and Industries in the Tampa, Florida Area. (n.d.). Retrieved from: https://www.citytowninfo.com/places/florida/tampa/work
- Equality Florida (2017). LGBTQ Family FAQ. Retrieved from http://www.eqfl.org/family_recognition/faq
- Esubalew, D. (2018). Florida's Coverage Gap. Florida Policy Institute. Retrieved from https://www.fpi.institute/floridas-coverage-gap/
- Fertility Clinic of Tampa. (2016). Healthy Babies Protocol. Retrieved from https://www.fertilityclinictampa.com/treatments-1
- Fertility Clinic Success Rate and Certification Act (FCSCRA) of 1992. Pub. L. No.102-493. United States. (1992). Retrieved from https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/STATUTE-106/pdf/STATUTE-106-Pg3146.pdf

- FLA. STAT. § 63 (2019) Retrieved from http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0000-0099/0063/0063ContentsIndex.html
- FLA. STAT. § 742 (2019) Retrieved from http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0700-0799/0742/0742ContentsIndex.html
- Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992. Retrieved from:
 http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0700-0799/0760/0760.html
- Florida Department of Health. (2017). Pregnancy. Retrieved from http://www.floridahealth.gov/programs-and-services/womenshealth/pregnancy/index.html#heading_4
- Florida Department of Children and Families (2014). Family-Related Medicaid Fact Sheet. Retrieved https://www.dcf.state.fl.us/programs/access/docs/fammedfactsheet.pdf
- Florida Department of Children and Families. (2018). Benefits of Adopting Florida's Children. Retrieved September 12, 2019 from http://www.adoptflorida.org/benefits.shtml.
- Florida Department of State. (2019). A Brief History. State of Florida. Retrieved from: https://dos.myflorida.com/florida-facts/florida-history/a-brief-history/
- Florida Fertility Institute. (n.d.). Tampa Bay Infertility Treatment. Retrieved September 15, 2019 from https://www.thefertilityexperts.com/
- Fossett, James W. (2007). Managing Reproductive Pluralism: The Case for Decentralized Governance. *The Hastings Center Report*, 37(4), 20.
- Gettler, L. T. (2010). Direct male care and hominin evolution: why male-child interaction is more than a nice social idea. *American Anthropologist*, (1), 7. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsgao&AN =edsgcl.221203786&site=eds-live
- Gettler, L.T., McDade, T.W., Feranil, A.B., Kuzawa, C.W. (2011). Longitudinal evidence that fatherhood decreases testosterone in human males. PNAS 108, 16194–16199.
- Grogan, P. (2017). Refugee Services: At-a-Glance. Florida Department of Children and Families. Retrieved from http://www.myflfamilies.com/service-programs/refugee-services/at-a-glance

- Guest, G. (2015). Sampling and selecting participants in field research. In H. Russell Bernard & Clarence C. Gravlee (Eds.), Handbook of Methods in Cultural Anthropology (pp 215-249). London: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Guide to LGBTQ Resources (2014). [Unofficial Draft]. USF L.G.B.T.Q. USF Counseling Center. Retrieved September 12, 2019 https://www.usf.edu/student-affairs/counseling-center/documents/lgbtq_resource_guide.pdf
- Harp, K. L., & Oser, C. B. (2016). Factors associated with two types of child custody loss among a sample of African American mothers: A novel approach. Social Science Research, 60283-296. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.06.007
- Hayden, C. (2007). Kinship Theory, Property, and the Politics of Inclusion: From Lesbian Families to Bioprospecting in a Few Short Steps. Signs: Journal Of Women In Culture & Society, 32(2), 337-345.
- Hodson, K., Meads, C., & Bewley, S. (2017). Lesbian and bisexual women's likelihood of becoming pregnant: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 124(3), 393–402.
- Howell, S. (2001) Self-conscious kinship: Some contested values in Norwegian transnational adoption. In: Franklin S and McKinnon S (eds) Relative Values: Reconfiguring Kinship Studies. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 203–23.
- Howson, A. (2013). Bourdieu's Habitus. Research Starters: Sociology (Online Edition).
- Hicks, S. (2005). Queer Genealogies: Tales of Conformity and Rebellion amongst Lesbian and Gay Foster Carers and Adopters. Qualitative Social Work, 4(3), 293-308. doi:10.1177/1473325005055597
- Ikemoto, L. C. (2015). Egg freezing, stratified reproduction and the logic of not. *Journal of Law & the Biosciences*, 2(1), 112.
- Ingraham, N. (2017). Best practices for LGBTQ inclusion and exclusion in reproductive health research. Contraception, (4), doi:10.1016/j.contraception.2017.07.138
- Inhorn, Marcia. (1994). "Quest for Conception: Gender, Infertility and Egyptian Medical Traditions". Library of Congress.
- Jin, H., & Dasgupta, S. (2016). Disparities between online assisted reproduction patient education for same-sex and heterosexual couples. HUMAN REPRODUCTION, (10). 2280. https://academic-oup-com.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/humrep
- Jones, C. (2005). Looking Like a Family: Negotiating Bio-Genetic Continuity in British Lesbian Families Using Licensed Donor Insemination. Sexualities, 8(2), 221-237.

- Kahn, S. (2000). Reproducing Jews: A cultural account of assisted conception in Israel. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Kissil, K., & Davey, M. (2012). Health Disparities in Procreation: Unequal Access to Assisted Reproductive Technologies. Journal Of Feminist Family Therapy, 24(3), 197-212. doi:10.1080/08952833.2012.648139
- Klein, D. A., Berry-Bibee, E. N., Keglovitz Baker, K., Malcolm, N. M., Rollison, J. M., & Frederiksen, B. N. (2018). Providing quality family planning services to LGBTQIA individuals: a systematic review. Contraception, 97(5), 378-391. doi:10.1016/j.contraception.2017.12.016
- Kreines, F. M., Farr, A., Chervenak, F. A., & Grünebaum, A. (2018). Quality of web-based family-building information for LGBTQ individuals. European Journal Of Contraception & Reproductive Health Care, 23(1), 18-23. doi:10.1080/13625187.2018.1432036
- Kuzawa CW. 2005. The fetal origins of developmental plasticity: are fetal cues reliable predictors of future nutritional environments? *American Journal of Human Biology* 175–21.
- Kuzawa, C. W., Gettler, L. T., Muller, M. N., McDade, T. W., & Feranil, A. B. (2009). Fatherhood, pairbonding and testosterone in the Philippines. *Hormones and Behavior*, *56*(4), 429–435. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2009.07.010
- Leibetseder, D. (2018). Queer reproduction revisited and why race, class and citizenship still matters: A response to Cristina Richie. Bioethics, 32(2), 138-144. doi:10.1111/bioe.12416
- Lenhardt, R. A. (2017). The Color of Kinship. Iowa Law Review, 102(5), 2071-2107.
- Levine, N. E. (2008). Alternative Kinship, Marriage, and Reproduction. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, *37*(1), 375–389. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/10.1146/annurev.anthro.37.081407.085120
- Levy, Robert L., Hollan, Douglas W. (2015). Person-Centered Interviewing and Observation. In H. Russell Bernard & Clarence C. Gravlee (Eds.), Handbook of Methods in Cultural Anthropology (pp 313-342). London: Rowman & Littlefield.
- LGBTQ. (n.d.) Retrieved September 12, 2019, from https://www.thefertilityexperts.com/lgbtq.html
- Lo, I. P., Chan, C. H., & Chan, T. H. (2016). Perceived importance of childbearing and attitudes toward assisted reproductive technology among Chinese lesbians in Hong Kong: implications for psychological well-being. Fertility & Sterility- International Edition-, (5). 1221. https://www.fertstert.org/

- Logan, J. (2013). Contemporary adoptive kinship: a contribution to new kinship studies. Child & Family Social Work, 18(1), 35-45. doi:10.1111/cfs.12042
- Mamo, L. (2005). Biomedicalizing Kinship: Sperm Banks and the Creation of Affinity-ties. Science As Culture, 14(3), 237-264. doi:10.1080/09505430500216833
- Mamo, L. (2007). Negotiating Conception: Lesbians' Hybrid-Technological Practices. Science, Technology, & Human Values. Vol. 32 Issue 3, p. 369-393.
- Mamo, L., & Alston-Stepnitz, E. (2015). Queer Intimacies and Structural Inequalities: New Directions in Stratified Reproduction. Journal Of Family Issues, 36(4), 519-540. doi:10.1177/0192513X14563796
- Marina, S., Marina, D., Marina, F., Fosas, N., Galiana, N., & Jové, I. (2010). Sharing motherhood: biological lesbian co-mothers, a new IVF indication. *Human Reproduction*, 25(4), 938–941. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/10.1093/humrep/deq008
- Mason, C. N. (2015). Unequal lives: The state of Black women and families in the rural South. Jackson, MS: Southern Rural Black Women's Initiative.
- Massey, Douglas S. (2004). "Segregation and Stratification: A Biosocial Perspective." Du Bois Review 1(1): 7-25.
- Massey, Douglas S., Arango, J., Hugo, G., Kouaouci, A., Pellegrino, A., Taylor, J. Edward. (1994). An Evaluation of International Migration Theory: The North American Case. Population and Development Review, Vol. 20, No. 4, pp. 699-751.
- McKenna, J., Mosko, S., Dungy, C., McAninch, P.. (1990) Sleep and arousal patterns of cosleeping human mother/infant pairs: A preliminary physiological study with implications for the study of Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS). *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*. 83:331-47.
- McKenna, James J., & Mosko, Sarah. (1990). Evolution and the Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS) Part II: Why Human Infants? *Human Nature* 1(2).
- McKenna, James J., & Gettler, Lee T. (2007). Mother-Infant Cosleeping with Breastfeeding in the Western Industrialized Context: A Biocultural Perspective. Textbook of Human Lactation. T.W. Hale and P.E. Hartmann, eds. Amarillo, Texas: Hale Publishing, 2007.
- McKenna, J. (2019). The Return of Breastsleeping, humankinds oldest most successful sleep and feeding arrangement [PowerPoint Slides]. Presented at Co-sleeping curious? March 30, 2019. Presented by Tampa Bay Birth Network and Tampa Bay Breastfeeding Task Force.

- McKinnon, S. (2015). Productive Paradoxes of the Assisted Reproductive Technologies in the Context of the New Kinship Studies. Journal Of Family Issues, 36(4), 461-479. doi:10.1177/0192513X14563799
- Metro Tampa Bay. (n.d). Primary Care: A holistic community-based approach to your health. Retrieved from: https://www.metrotampabay.org/health/primary-care/
- Miller, Elizabeth M. (2017). Beyond passive immunity: Breastfeeding, milk and collaborative mother-infant immune systems. In Breastfeeding: New Anthropological Approaches (Chapter 2). Available from: https://www.routledge.com/Breastfeeding-New-Anthropological-Approaches-1st-Edition/Tomori-E-L-Palmquist-Quinn/p/book/9781138502871
- Morgan, L. M., & Roberts, E. F. (2009). Rights and Reproduction in Latin America. *Anthropology News*, (3), 12.
- Mormino, G. R. (1998). The immigrant world of Ybor City: Italians and their Latin neighbors in Tampa, 1885-1985. Gainesville: University Press of Florida. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edshlc&AN=edshlc.007916656.3&site=eds-live
- Mosko, S., Richard, C., McKenna, J., Drummond, S. (1996). Infant sleep architecture during bedsharing and possible implications for SIDS. *Sleep.* 19:677-84.
- Mosko, S., Richard, C., McKenna, J. (1997). Maternal sleep and arousals during bedsharing with infants. *Sleep*. 20(2):142-50.
- Municode. (2012). Chapter 30: Human Rights in Hillsborough County Code of Ordinances and Laws Part A: General Ordinances. (1). Order of the Board of County Commissioners. Tallahassee, FL.
- Nebeling Petersen, M. (2018). Becoming Gay Fathers Through Transnational Commercial Surrogacy. Journal Of Family Issues, 39(3), 693-719. doi:10.1177/0192513X16676859
- Nelson, M. K., & Hertz, R. (2017). Donor-Insemination Motherhood: How Three Types of Mothers Make Sense of Genes and Donors. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, *13*(4), 333–356. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/10.1080/1550428X.2016.1249585
- Nordqvist, P. (2012). Origins and originators: lesbian couples negotiating parental identities and sperm donor conception. Culture, Health & Sexuality, 14(3), 297-311. doi:10.1080/13691058.2011.639392
- Nordqvist, P. (2014). Bringing Kinship into Being: Connectedness, Donor Conception and Lesbian Parenthood. Sociology, 48(2), 268-283. doi:10.1177/0038038513477936

- Nyanzi, S. (2013). Dismantling reified African culture through localised homosexualities in Uganda. Culture, Health & Sexuality, 15(8), 952-967. doi:10.1080/13691058.2013.798684
- Ortner, Sherry B. (2006). Anthropology and Social Theory: Culture, Power, and the Acting Subject. Duke University Press.
- Ortner, Sherry B. (1984) Theory in Anthropology since the Sixties. Cambridge University Press.
- Path2Parenthood. (2019). Retrieved October 27, 2019, from http://www.path2parenthood.org/library/glossary
- Pennings, G. (2016). Having a child together in lesbian families: combining gestation and genetics. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 42(4), 253–255. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/10.1136/medethics-2015-103007
- Phillips, A. (2015, January 25). For gay couples in Florida, an easier path to adoption. Tampa Bay Times. Retrieved from http://www.tampabay.com/news/courts/civil/for-gay-couples-in-florida-an-easier-path-to-adoption/2214938
- Prince, K. Stephen. (2016). We wanted some basic human rights: The Civil Rights struggle in Tampa. University of South Florida. Retrieved from: http://exhibits.lib.usf.edu/exhibits/show/civil-rights-in-tampa/introduction/intro/
- Raes, I., Van Parys, H., Provoost, V., Buysse, A., De Sutter, P., & Pennings, G. (2014). Parental (in)equality and the genetic link in lesbian families. *Journal of Reproductive & Infant Psychology*, 32(5), 457–468.
- Ravelingien, A., Provoost, V., Wyverkens, E., Buysse, A., De Sutter, P., & Pennings, G. (2015). Lesbian couples' views about and experiences of not being able to choose their sperm donor. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 17(5), 592–606. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/10.1080/13691058.2014.979883
- Reproductive Medicine Group. (n.d.). About RMG. Retrieved September 15, 2019 from https://www.floridafertility.com/
- Roth, A. L. (2013). Outline of a Theory of Practice by Pierre Bourdieu. Salem Press Biographical Encyclopedia.
- Roth, A. L. (2013). Pierre Bourdieu. Salem Press Biographical Encyclopedia.
- Ryan, M., & Moras, A. (2017). Race matters in lesbian donor insemination: whiteness and heteronormativity as co-constituted narratives. Ethnic And Racial Studies, 40(4-5), 579-596

- SAFY of America (2019, May 6). Understanding the Different Types of Foster Parenting [Blog Post]. Retrieved from https://www.safy.org/understanding-the-different-types-of-foster-parenting/
- Schwartz, S. R., & Baral, S. (2015). Fertility-related research needs among women at the margins. Reproductive Health Matters, 23(45), 30-46. doi:10.1016/j.rhm.2015.06.006
- See 2018 Plans & Prices. (n.d.). Retrieved September 12, 2019 from https://www.healthcare.gov/see-plans/#?year=2018
- Shady Grove Fertility. (n.d.) SGF. Retrieved from https://www.shadygrovefertility.com/
- Shelley-Sireci, L. M., & Ciano-Boyce, C. (2002). Becoming Lesbian Adoptive Parents: An Exploratory Study of Lesbian Adoptive, Lesbian Birth, and Heterosexual Adoptive Parents. *Adoption Quarterly*, *6*(1), 33–43. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/10.1300/J145v06n01 04
- Smietana, M., Thompson, C., Twine, F.W., (2018). Making and breaking families reading queer reproductions, stratified reproduction and reproductive justice together. Reproductive BioMedicine and Society Online, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbms.2018.11.001
- State Laws Related to Insurnace Coverage for Infertility Treatment. (2019). Retrieved from: http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/insurance-coverage-for-infertility-laws.aspx
- Tampa Bay Birth Network. (2019). Preparing for Pregnancy: A healthy way to start the journey [PowerPoint Slides]. Presented at Makin' Babies: LGBTQ Paths to Parenthood on February 18, 2019.
- Trotter, II, R. T., Schensul, J. J., & Kostick, K. M. (2015). Theories and methods in applied anthropology. In H. Russell Bernard & Clarence C. Gravlee (Eds.), Handbook of Methods in Cultural Anthropology (pp 661-693). London: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Twine, F. W. (2015). Outsourcing the womb. [electronic resource]: race, class and gestational surrogacy in a global market. London; New York: Routledge, 2015. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lib.usf.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat00847a&AN=usflc.036615779&site=eds-live
- UCSF Transgender Care (2016). Guidelines for the Primary and Gender-Affirming Care of Transgender and Gender Nonbinary People; 2nd edition. Deutsch MB, ed. June 2016. Available at transcare.ucsf.edu/guidelines.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2010). Race and Hispanic or Latino Origin: 2010. Retrieved from: https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?src=CF

- U.S. Census Bureau (2018). Florida Population Estimates. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/map/tampacityflorida/PST045218
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2018). Annual Estimates of the Resident Population: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2018. U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division. Retrieved from: https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?src=bkmk#
- USF Health. (n.d.). Obstetrics & Gynecology: In Vitro Fertilization. Retrieved September 15, 2019 from https://health.usf.edu/care/obgyn/services-specialties/ivf
- USF Health IVF and Reproductive Endocrinology (n.d.) IUI Basics. Retrieved from https://health.usf.edu/-/media/Files/Care/Patient-Resources/OBGYN/IVF/IUI-Basics-Handbook-
 IVF.ashx?la=en&hash=4458FC3C489581EABF9A0B7E1B798C8685048D42
- Weller, S. C. (2015). Structured interviewing and questionnaire construction. In H. Russell Bernard & Clarence C. Gravlee (Eds.), Handbook of Methods in Cultural Anthropology (pp 343-390). London: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Weston, K. (1991). Families we choose. [electronic resource]: lesbians, gays, kinship. Columbia University Press.
- What Marketplace Health Insurance Plans Cover. (n.d.). Retrieved September 12, 2019, from https://www.healthcare.gov/coverage/what-marketplace-plans-cover/
- Wiley, M. O. (2017). Adoption research, practice, and societal trends: Ten years of progress. American Psychologist, 72(9), 985-995. doi:10.1037/amp0000218
- Wu, H. Y., Yin, O., Monseur, B., Selter, J., Collins, L. J., Lau, B. D., & Christianson, M. S. (2017). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender content on reproductive endocrinology and infertility clinic websites. Fertility & Sterility, 108(1), 183-191. doi:10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.05.011
- Zimmerman, A. L. (2016). Thailand's Ban on Commercial Surrogacy: Why Thailand Should Regulate, Not Attempt to Eradicate, 41 Brooklyn Journal of International Law. https://brooklynworks.brooklaw.edu/bjil/

APPENDIX A:

USF INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL



RESEARCH INTEGRITY AND COMPLIANCE Institutional Review Boards, FWA No. 00001669 12901 Bruce B. Downs Blvd., MDC035 • Tampa, FL 33612-4799 (813) 974-7691 • FAX(813)974-7091

November 6, 2018

Emily Baker Anthropology Tampa, FL 33612

RE: Expedited Approval for Initial Review

IRB#: Pro00037725

Title: Attitudes and Preferences of Family Building Practices for Self-Identified Queer Women Living in Tampa Bay

Study Approval Period: 11/5/2018 to 11/5/2019

Dear Ms. Baker:

On 11/5/2018, the Institutional Review Board (IRB) reviewed and APPROVED the above application and all documents contained within, including those outlined below.

Approved Item(s):

Protocol Document(s):

Protocol #0037725 Version #1 10/30/2018

Consent/Assent Document(s)*:

Adult Consent Version #1 10/12/2018.pdf

*Please use only the official IRB stamped informed consent/assent document(s) found under the "Attachments" tab. Please note, these consent/assent documents are valid until the consent document is amended and approved.

It was the determination of the IRB that your study qualified for expedited review which includes activities that (1) present no more than minimal risk to human subjects, and (2) involve only procedures listed in one or more of the categories outlined below. The IRB may review research through the expedited review procedure authorized by 45CFR46.110. The research proposed in this study is categorized under the following expedited review category:

- (6) Collection of data from voice, video, digital, or image recordings made for research purposes.
- (7) Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies.

As the principal investigator of this study, it is your responsibility to conduct this study in accordance with IRB policies and procedures and as approved by the IRB. Any changes to the approved research must be submitted to the IRB for review and approval via an amendment. Additionally, all unanticipated problems must be reported to the USF IRB within five (5) business days.

We appreciate your dedication to the ethical conduct of human subject research at the University of South Florida and your continued commitment to human research protections. If you have any questions regarding this matter, please call 813-974-5638.

Sincerely,

Kristen Salomon, Ph.D., Chairperson USF Institutional Review Board

APPENDIX B:

INTERVIEW QUESTIONNARE

Attitudes and Preferences of Family Building Practices for Queer Women

Demographics

- 1. What is your age?
- 2. How would you describe your race/ethnicity?
- 3. What is your highest level of education?
- 4. If you feel comfortable, please state your biological sex given at birth.
- 5. Please describe your gender identity.
- 6. Could you describe your sexual orientation?
- 7. What is your current relationship status?
- 8. Have you always lived in Tampa? If not, how long have you been a resident?
- 9. Do you currently have health insurance?
- 10. Please describe your desire to be a parent one day.

Beliefs and Attitudes

- 1. What are some of the ways you know of that are available to queer women to start a family? For each method the participant mentions, follow up with the following: "You mentioned (specify method the participant mentions), what do you see as possible advantages to using this method? What do you see as possible barriers, or disadvantages, to using this method"?
- 2. Are you aware of these methods? (List any methods the participant did not mention in the first question of this section. Discuss any methods the participant states they are familiar with, describe methods the participant says they have not heard of. Ask the same prompts from Question #1 of this section for each method).

Pile Sort

Each index card will list one of the following pathways to parenthood: Adoption, Fostering, Self-or Partner-Insemination, Direct Insemination, IVF, IUI, ROPA, Traditional Surrogacy, and Gestational Surrogacy. Sort the index cards into two piles, one pile should be options you would consider trying and the other pile should be options you would not consider. If you would consider all of them, then there is no need to sort into two piles.

1. After the participant sorts index cards into pathways to parenthood they would consider and pathways they would not consider, ask, "What are some reasons you chose (insert methods the participant placed in their "would consider" pile), and not (insert methods the participant placed in their "will not consider" pile"?

Ranking

Looking at the pile of methods you would consider, please rank the methods according to your preferences, starting with the most preferred method as #1.

1. After the participant sorts index cards by preferences, follow-up with the prompts, "Why do you prefer (insert method #1) over (method #2)?" and "Why do you prefer (insert the second lowest ranking item) over (the lowest ranking item)?".

Kinship Preferences

(Based on responses from the previous exercise, for example if the participant is not willing to consider adoption, then don't ask #4).

- 1. Who do you prefer to be pregnant? (Self, Partner, Either, Both, Other) Why?
- 2. Who do you prefer to be the egg donor? (Self, Partner, Either, Both, Other) Why?
- 3. What are your thoughts if you are able to choose to provide your child with breast milk? *If the participant would consider choosing to provide breast milk ask*, "Would you prefer for you, your partner, or a third party to provide the breast milk"?
- 4. What factors do you consider important when adopting a child?
- 5. What factors do you consider important when selecting a donor?
- 7. If you were to use a donor to create your family, would you prefer for them to be anonymous or known? If known, how much interaction do you imagine the donor would have with your family?

Open--Ended Questions

(Based on responses from previous questions)

1. How do you define family?

- 2. Why do you want or do not want to have a family?
- 3. What policies are you aware of that may be relevant concerning the pathways to parenthood we have discussed?
- 4. What do you know about your insurance coverage, or insurance coverage in general, regarding assisted reproductive technologies?
- 5. What do you think about the following policies that are relevant to Florida (specify policies they may not have mentioned)? After hearing about these policies, would you change any of your previous considerations regarding any of the methods we have discussed?
- 5. Currently, there are no state-sponsored resources to assist LGBTQ individuals to build a family, do you know of any community resources that would be relevant?
- 6. What do you think would be important resources to help build healthy LGBTQ families in Tampa Bay and in Florida?

Applied Questions

1. Do you want any more information on the following? (Getting Pregnant, Being Pregnant,
Birth Control/Sterilization Medicaid, Adoption, Fostering, LGBTQ Mental Health, LGBTQ
Sexual Health, Community Programs, Local Social Media Forums, Breastfeeding, Insurance
Coverage regarding ARTs, Insurance Coverage regarding Maternity Care, Laws and Policies
(Adoption, Fostering, ARTs, Surrogacy, etc.), None, Other:

2. How/where would you prefer the information collected through this research project to be disseminated? (Workshop, Advertisement, LGBT event, LGBT Health Centers like Metro Wellness, Sex Education Curriculums, Presented at Academic Conferences, Presented to Legislators, or Other)